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Under this Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the Programme), Banca Popolare di Sondrio
S.C.p.A. (the Issuer or BPS) may from time to time issue notes governed by English Law (the
English Law Notes) and notes governed by Italian Law (the Italian Law Notes and together with the
English Law Notes, the Notes) denominated in any currency agreed between the Issuer and the
relevant Dealer (as defined below).

The Notes may be issued on a continuing basis to one or more of the Dealers specified under
"OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME" and any additional Dealer appointed under the Programme
from time to time by the Issuer (each a Dealer and together the Dealers), which appointment may be
for a specific issue or on an ongoing basis. References in this base prospectus (the Base Prospectus)
to the relevant Dealer shall, in the case of an issue of Notes being (or intended to be) subscribed by
more than one Dealer, be to all Dealers agreeing to subscribe such Notes.

An investment in Notes issued under the Programme involves certain risks. For a discussion of
these risks see "Risk Factors".

This Base Prospectus has been approved by the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier
(the CSSF), as competent authority in Luxembourg under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the
Prospectus Regulation). The CSSF only approves this Base Prospectus as meeting the standards of
completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the Prospectus Regulation. Approval by
the CSSF should not be considered as an endorsement of the Issuer or of the quality of the Notes.
Investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the Notes.

The CSSF assumes no responsibility for the economic and financial soundness of the transactions
contemplated by this Base Prospectus or the quality or solvency of the Issuer in accordance with the
provisions of Article 6 (4) of the Luxembourg law on prospectuses for securities of 16 July 2019.
Application has been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Notes issued under the
Programme to be admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market and to
be listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

References in this Base Prospectus to Notes being listed (and all related references) shall mean that
such Notes have been admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market and
have been admitted to the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. The Luxembourg Stock
Exchange's regulated market is a regulated market for the purposes of the Markets in Financial
Instruments Directive (Directive 2014/65/EU).

This Base Prospectus (as supplemented as at the relevant time, if applicable) is valid for 12
months from its date of approval in relation to Notes which are to be admitted to trading on a



regulated market in the European Economic Area (the EEA). The obligation to supplement this
Base Prospectus in the event of a significant new factor, material mistake or material
inaccuracy does not apply when this Base Prospectus is no longer valid. The validity of this Base
Prospectus ends upon expiration on 8 October 2022.

The requirement to publish a prospectus under the Prospectus Regulation only applies to Notes which
are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market in the EEA and/or offered to the public in the EEA
other than in circumstances where an exemption is available under Article 1(4) and/or 3(2) of the
Prospectus Regulation. References in this Base Prospectus to Exempt Notes are to Notes for which
no prospectus is required to be published under the Prospectus Regulation. The CSSF has neither
approved nor reviewed information contained in this Base Prospectus in connection with Exempt
Notes.

Notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, the
issue price of Notes and certain other information which is applicable to each Tranche (as defined
under "Terms and Conditions for the English Law Notes" or under "Terms and Conditions for the
Italian Law Notes" ) of Notes will (other than in the case of Exempt Notes, as defined above) be set
out in a final terms document (the Final Terms) which will be filed with the CSSF.

Copies of Final Terms in relation to Notes to be listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange will also
be published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu). In the case of
Exempt Notes, notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of
Notes, the issue price of Notes and certain other information which is applicable to each Tranche will
be set out in a pricing supplement document (the Pricing Supplement).

The Programme provides that Notes may be listed or admitted to trading and/or quotation, as the case
may be, on such other or further stock exchanges or markets as may be agreed between the Issuer and
the relevant Dealer. The Issuer may also issue unlisted Notes and/or Notes not admitted to trading on
any market.

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended
(the Securities Act) or any U.S. State securities laws and may not be offered or sold in the United
States or to, or for the account or the benefit of, U.S. persons as defined in Regulation S under the
Securities Act except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration
requirements of the Securities Act.

The Issuer has been rated “BB+” (long-term issuer default rating) and “B” (short-term issuer default
rating) by Fitch Ratings Ireland Limited, Sede Secondaria Italiana (Fitch), “BBB (low)” (long-term
issuer rating) and “R-2 (middle)” (short-term issuer rating) by DBRS Ratings GmbH (DBRS). The
Issuer rating assigned by Scope Rating GmbH (Scope) is “BBB-".

Each of Fitch, DBRS and Scope is established in the EEA and is registered under the Regulation (EC)
No. 1060/2009 (as amended) (the CRA Regulation). As such, each of Fitch, DBRS and Scope is
included in the list of credit rating agencies published by the European Securities and Markets
Authority (ESMA) on its website (at http://www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-registered-and-certified-
CRAs5) in accordance with the CRA Regulation.

Each of Fitch, DBRS and Scope is not established in the United Kingdom but it is part of a group in
respect of which one of its undertakings is (i) established in the United Kingdom (UK), and (ii) has
made an advance application to be registered in accordance with the Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009,
as it forms part of domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the European Union
(Withdrawal) Act 2018 (UK CRA Regulation). The Issuer ratings have been issued by each of Fitch,
DBRS and Scope in accordance with the CRA Regulation before the end of the transition period and
have not been withdrawn. As such, the ratings issued by each of Fitch, DBRS and Scope may be used
for regulatory purposes in the United Kingdom in accordance with the UK CRA Regulation until
January 2022.


http://www.bourse.lu/

Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated by one or more of the rating agencies.
Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, such rating will be disclosed in the Final Terms (or Pricing
Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes) and will not necessarily be the same as the rating assigned
to the Programme by the relevant rating agency. A security rating is not a recommendation to buy,
sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the
assigning rating agency.

Whether or not a rating in relation to any Tranche of Notes will be (1) treated as having been issued or
endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the European Union and registered under the CRA
Regulation or by a credit rating agency which is certified under the CRA Regulation and/or (2) issued
or endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA
Regulation or by a credit rating agency which is certified under the UK CRA Regulation will be
disclosed in the relevant Final Terms. In general, European regulated investors are restricted from
using a rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not issued or endorsed by a credit rating agency
established in the European Union and registered under the CRA Regulation (and such registration
has not been withdrawn or suspended) (or is endorsed and published or distributed by subscription by
such a credit rating agency in accordance with the CRA Regulation) unless (1) the rating is provided
by a credit rating agency not established in the European Union but endorsed by a credit rating agency
established in the European Union and registered under the CRA Regulation or (2) the rating is
provided by a credit rating agency not established in the European Union which is certified under the
CRA Regulation. In general, UK regulated investors are restricted from using a rating for regulatory
purposes if such rating is not issued or endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the UK and
registered under the UK CRA Regulation or (1) the rating is provided by a credit rating agency not
established in the UK but is endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the UK and registered
under the UK CRA Regulation or (2) the rating is provided by a credit rating agency not established
in the UK which is certified under the UK CRA Regulation. ESMA is obliged to maintain on its
website a list of credit rating agencies registered and certified in accordance with the CRA
Regulation.

Amounts payable on Floating Rate Notes and/or Reset Notes (where relevant) may be calculated by
reference to the euro interbank offered rate (EURIBOR) as specified in the relevant Final Terms. As
at the date of this Base Prospectus, the European Money Markets Institute, as administrator of
EURIBOR, is included in ESMA’s register of administrators under Article 36 of the Regulation (EU)
No. 2016/1011 (the Benchmarks Regulation).).

Arrangers

J.P. Morgan Société Générale
Corporate & Investment Banking

Dealers
Banca Akros S.p.A. — Gruppo Banco BPM Banca Popolare di Sondrio
BNP PARIBAS Erste Group
IMI - Intesa Sanpaolo J.P. Morgan



KBC Bank Natixis

Société Générale

Raiffeisen Bank International
Corporate & Investment Banking

UBS Investment Bank UniCredit

The date of this Base Prospectus is 8 October 2021.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION

This Base Prospectus comprises a base prospectus in respect of all Notes other than Exempt
Notes issued under the Programme for the purposes of Article 8 of the Prospectus Regulation.
When used in this Base Prospectus, Prospectus Regulation means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129
and UK Prospectus Regulation means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic
law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (EUWA). The Issuer accepts
responsibility for the information contained in this Base Prospectus and the Final Terms for
each Tranche of Notes issued under the Programme. To the best of the knowledge of the Issuer
(having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information contained in
this Base Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect
the import of such information.

This Base Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are incorporated in
it by reference (see "Documents incorporated by reference”). This Base Prospectus shall be read
and construed on the basis that those documents are incorporated by reference and form part of
this Base Prospectus.

Other than in relation to the documents which are incorporated by reference (see "Documents
incorporated by reference”), the information on the websites to which this Base Prospectus refers
does not form part of this Base Prospectus and has not been scrutinised or approved by the
CSSF.

Neither the Dealers nor the Trustee (as defined below) have independently verified the
information contained herein. Accordingly, no representation, warranty or undertaking,
express or implied, is made and no responsibility or liability is accepted by the Dealers or the
Trustee as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained or incorporated in this
Base Prospectus or any other information provided by the Issuer in connection with the
Programme. No Dealer or the Trustee accepts any liability in relation to the information
contained or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or any other information
provided by the Issuer in connection with the Programme.

The Dealers have not undertaken, nor are responsible for, any assessment of the Framework
Agreement or the Eligible Green Projects, Eligible Social Projects and Eligible Sustainable
Projects, any verification of whether the Eligible Green Projects, Eligible Social Projects and
Eligible Sustainable Projects meet the criteria set out in the Framework Agreement or the
monitoring of the use of proceeds.

Third Party Information — Certain information and statistics presented in this Base Prospectus
regarding markets and market share of the Issuer or the BPS Group are either derived from, or



are based on, internal data or publicly available data from external sources. In respect of
information in this Base Prospectus that has been extracted from a third party, the Issuer
confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware,
and is able to ascertain from information published by third parties, no facts have been omitted
which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. Although the Issuer
believes that the external sources used are reliable, the Issuer has not independently verified the
information provided by such sources. No person is or has been authorised by the Issuer or the
Trustee to give any information or to make any representation not contained in or not
consistent with this Base Prospectus or any other document entered into in relation to the
Programme or any information supplied in connection with the Programme or the Notes and, if
given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been
authorised by the Issuer any of the Dealers or the Trustee.

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the
Programme or any Notes (a) is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation or
(b) should be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer any of the Dealers or the Trustee
that any recipient of this Base Prospectus or any other information supplied in connection with
the Programme or any Notes should purchase any Notes. Each investor contemplating
purchasing any Notes should make its own independent investigation of the financial condition
and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the Issuer. Neither this Base
Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the issue
of any Notes constitutes an offer or invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer any of the Dealers or
the Trustee to any person to subscribe for or to purchase any Notes.

Neither the delivery of this Base Prospectus nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Notes shall
in any circumstances imply that the information contained in it concerning the Issuer is correct
at any time subsequent to its date or that any other information supplied in connection with the
Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to the date indicated in the document
containing the same. The Dealers and the Trustee expressly do not undertake to review the
financial condition or affairs of the Issuer during the life of the Programme or to advise any
investor in Notes issued under the Programme of any information coming to their attention.

PRIIPs / IMPORTANT — EEA RETAIL INVESTORS - If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes
(or Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes) includes a legend entitled “Prohibition of Sales
to EEA Retail Investors”, the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to
and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European
Economic Area (EEA). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of:
(1) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU of the European
Parliament and of the Council on markets in financial instruments (as amended, MiFID II) or; (ii) a
customer within the meaning of Directive 2016/97/EU (as amended, the Insurance Distribution
Directive), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of
Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the
Prospectus Regulation). Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU)
No 1286/2014 (as amended or superseded, the PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes
or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore
offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may
be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

PRIIPs / IMPORTANT — UK RETAIL INVESTORS - If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes
(or Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes) includes a legend entitled “Prohibition of Sales
to UK Retail Investors”, the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to
and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United



Kingdom (UK). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a
retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of
domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (EUWA); or (ii) a customer
within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended (the
FSMA) and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97,
where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1)
of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or (iii) not
a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic
law by virtue of the EUWA. Consequently no key information document required by the PRIIPs
Regulation as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the UK PRIIPs Regulation) for
offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been
prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail
investor in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making
them available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

MIFID II product governance / target market — The Final Terms (or Pricing Supplement, in the
case of Exempt Notes) in respect of any Notes will include a legend entitled “MiFID II Product
Governance” which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which
channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or
recommending the Notes (a distributor) should take into consideration the target market assessment;
however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market
assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and
determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID
Product Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the MiFID Product Governance
Rules), any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but
otherwise neither the Arrangers nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a
manufacturer for the purpose of the MIFID Product Governance Rules.

UK MIFIR product governance / target market — The Final Terms (or Pricing Supplement, in the
case of Exempt Notes) in respect of any Notes will include a legend entitled “UK MiFIR Product
Governance” which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which
channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or
recommending the Notes (a “distributor”) should take into consideration the manufacturer’s target
market assessment; however, a distributor subject to UK MiFIR product governance rules set out in
the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the UK MiFIR
Product Governance Rules) is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in
respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer’s target market assessment) and
determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the UK
MiFIR Product Governance Rules, any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect
of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arrangers nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates
will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules.

NOTIFICATION UNDER SECTION 309B(1)(C) OF THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES
ACT (CHAPTER 289) OF SINGAPORE, AS MODIFIED OR AMENDED FROM TIME TO
TIME (THE SFA) — Unless otherwise stated in the Final Terms in respect of any Notes (or Pricing
Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes), all Notes issued or to be issued under the Programme shall
be prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets
Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS
Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice
on Recommendations on Investment Products).



NOTICE TO CANADIAN INVESTORS - The Notes may be sold only to purchasers purchasing, or
deemed to be purchasing, as principal that are accredited investors, as defined in National Instrument
45-106 Prospectus Exemptions or subsection 73.3(1) of the Securities Act (Ontario), and are
permitted clients, as defined in National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions
and Ongoing Registrant Obligations. Any resale of the Notes must be made in accordance with an
exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the prospectus requirements of applicable securities
laws.

Securities legislation in certain provinces or territories of Canada may provide a purchaser with
remedies for rescission or damages if this Base Prospectus (including any amendment thereto)
contains a misrepresentation, provided that the remedies for rescission or damages are exercised by
the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province
or territory. The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the
purchaser’s province or territory for particulars of these rights or consult with a legal advisor.

If applicable, pursuant to section 3A.3 (or, in the case of securities issued or guaranteed by the
government of a non-Canadian jurisdiction, section 3A.4) of National Instrument 33-105
Underwriting Conflicts (NI 33-105), the Dealers are not required to comply with the disclosure
requirements of NI 33-105 regarding underwriter conflicts of interest in connection with this offering.

In this Base Prospectus, unless the contrary intention appears, a reference to a law or a provision of a
law is a reference to that law or provision as extended, amended or re-enacted.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO THE USE OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS
AND OFFERS OF NOTES GENERALLY

This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any
Notes in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make the offer or solicitation in such
jurisdiction. The distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offer or sale of Notes may be restricted
by law in certain jurisdictions. The Issuer the Dealers and the Trustee do not represent that this Base
Prospectus may be lawfully distributed, or that any Notes may be lawfully offered, in compliance with
any applicable registration or other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or pursuant to an exemption
available thereunder, or assume any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offering. In
particular, no action has been taken by the Issuer, the Dealers or the Trustee which is intended to
permit a public offering of any Notes or distribution of this Base Prospectus in any jurisdiction where
action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, no Notes may be offered or sold, directly or
indirectly, and neither this Base Prospectus nor any advertisement or other offering material may be
distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance
with any applicable laws and regulations. Persons into whose possession this Base Prospectus or any
Notes may come must inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions on the distribution
of this Base Prospectus and the offering and sale of Notes. In particular, there are restrictions on the
distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offer or sale of Notes in the United States, the EEA
(including Italy, France and Belgium), the United Kingdom, Singapore, Switzerland and Japan, see
"Subscription and Sale".

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION
Presentation of Financial Information

Unless otherwise indicated, the financial information in this Base Prospectus relating to the Issuer has
been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the financial years
ended, respectively, 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020 and from the unaudited condensed
consolidated interim financial statements of the Issuer for the six months ended on 30 June 2020 and



30 June 2021 (together, the Financial Statements).

The Issuer's financial year ends on 31 December, and references in this Base Prospectus to any
specific year are to the 12-month period ended on 31 December of such year. The Financial
Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board as adopted by the European Union (IFRS).

Certain Defined Terms and Conventions

Capitalised terms which are used but not defined in any particular section of this Base Prospectus will
have the meaning attributed to them in "Terms and Conditions for the English Law Notes " and
"Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes "or any other section of this Base Prospectus. In

addition, the following terms as used in this Base Prospectus have the meanings defined below:

In this Base Prospectus, all references to:

° U.S. dollars, U.S.$ and $ refer to United States dollars;
. Sterling and £ refer to pounds sterling; and
. Euro, euro and € refer to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European

economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European
Union, as amended.

References to a billion are to a thousand million.

Certain figures and percentages included in this Base Prospectus have been subject to rounding
adjustments; accordingly, figures shown in the same category presented in different tables may vary
slightly and figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the
figures which precede them.

In this Base Prospectus, unless the contrary intention appears, a reference to a law or a provision of a
law is a reference to that law or provision as extended, amended or re-enacted.

SUITABILITY OF INVESTMENT

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors. Each potential investor in the Notes
must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each
potential investor may wish to consider, either on its own or with the help of its financial and other
professional advisers, whether it:

(1) has sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the
merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by
reference in this Base Prospectus or any applicable supplement;

(i1) has access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have
on its overall investment portfolio;

(i)  has sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the
Notes, including Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies, or where
the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor's
currency;



(iv)  understands thoroughly the terms of the Notes and is familiar with the behaviour of any
relevant indices and financial markets; and

v) is able to evaluate possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may
affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments. The investment activities of certain
investors are subject to investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities.
Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (1)
Notes are legal investments for it, (2) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing
and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should
consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of
Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

STABILISATION

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as
the Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in the
form of Final Terms or Pricing Supplement may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a
view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might
otherwise prevail. However stabilisation may not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may
begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the
relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end no later
than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and 60 days after
the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-
allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on
behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.
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OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME

The following overview does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its
entirety by, the remainder of this Base Prospectus and, in relation to the terms and conditions of any
particular Tranche of Notes, the form of Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable
Pricing Supplement). The Issuer and any relevant Dealer may agree that Notes shall be issued in a
form other than that contemplated in the Terms and Conditions for the English Law Notes and Terms
and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes, in which event, in the case of Notes other than Exempt
Notes, and if appropriate, a new Base Prospectus or a supplement to the Base Prospectus, will be
published.

This Overview constitutes a general description of the Programme for the purposes of Article 25(1) of
Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 2019/980 (the Delegated Regulation).

Words and expressions defined in "Form of the Notes" and "Terms and Conditions for the English
Law Notes" and "Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes "shall have the same meanings in
this Overview.

Issuer: Banca Popolare di Sondrio S.C.p.A.
Issuer Legal Entity Identifier (LEI): J48C8PCSJVUBREKCWS529

Risk Factors: There are certain factors that may affect the Issuer's ability
to fulfil its obligations under Notes issued under the
Programme. In addition, there are certain factors which are
material for the purpose of assessing the market risks
associated with Notes issued under the Programme and risks
relating to the structure of a particular Series of Notes issued
under the Programme. All of these are set out under "Risk

Factors".
Description: Euro Medium Term Note Programme
Arrangers: J.P. Morgan AG

Société Générale
Dealers: Banca Akros S.p.A. — Gruppo Banco BPM
Banca Popolare di Sondrio S.C.p.A.
BNP Paribas
Erste Group Bank AG
Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.
J.P. Morgan AG

KBC Bank NV
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Certain Restrictions:

Issuing and Principal Paying Agent:

Programme Size:

Distribution:

Currencies:

Maturities:

Natixis

Raiffeisen Bank International AG
Société Générale

UBS Europe SE

UniCredit Bank AG

and any other Dealers appointed in accordance with the
Programme Agreement.

Each issue of Notes denominated in a currency in respect of
which particular laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or
reporting requirements apply will only be issued in
circumstances which comply with such laws, guidelines,
regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements from time
to time (see "Subscription and Sale") including the
following restrictions applicable at the date of this Base
Prospectus.

Notes having a maturity of less than one year

Notes having a maturity of less than one year will, if the
proceeds of the issue are accepted in the United Kingdom,
constitute deposits for the purposes of the prohibition on
accepting deposits contained in section 19 of the Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000 (FSMA) unless they are
issued to a limited class of professional investors and have a
denomination of at least £100,000 or its equivalent, see
"Subscription and Sale".

Citibank N.A., London Branch

Up to €5,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies
calculated as described in the Programme Agreement)
outstanding at any time. The Issuer may increase the amount
of the Programme in accordance with the terms of the
Programme Agreement.

Notes may be distributed by way of private or public
placement and in each case on a syndicated or non-
syndicated basis.

Subject to any applicable legal or regulatory restrictions,
notes may be denominated in euro, Sterling, U.S. dollars and
any other currency agreed between the Issuer and the
relevant Dealer.

The Notes will have such maturities as may be agreed

between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer, subject to such
minimum or maximum maturities as may be allowed or
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Issue Price:

Form of Notes

Fixed Rate Notes:

Reset Notes

Floating Rate Notes:

required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or
equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to the
Issuer or the relevant Specified Currency.

Unless otherwise permitted by current laws, regulations,
directives and/or requirements applicable from time to time
to the issue of Non-Preferred Senior Notes, Non-Preferred
Senior Notes must have a minimum maturity of not less than
twelve months.

Unless otherwise permitted by current laws, regulations,
directives and/or requirements applicable from time to time
to the issue of Subordinated Notes, Subordinated Notes must
have a minimum maturity of 5 years.

Notes may be issued on a fully-paid or, in the case of
Exempt Notes, a partly-paid basis and at an issue price
which is at par or at a discount to, or premium over, par.

The Notes will be issued in bearer form as described in
"Form of the Notes".

Fixed interest will be payable on such date or dates as may
be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer and on
redemption and will be calculated on the basis of such Day
Count Fraction as may be agreed between the Issuer and the
relevant Dealer.

Fixed Rate Notes may also include an interest step-up
provision whereby the Rate of Interest payable increases at
pre-determined periods to a pre-determined percentage per
annum as indicated in the form of Final Terms (or, in the
case of Exempt Notes, Pricing Supplement).

Fixed Rate Notes may also include an interest step-down
provision whereby the Rate of Interest payable decreases at
pre-determined periods to a pre-determined percentage per
annum as indicated in the form of Final Terms (or, in the
case of Exempt Notes, Pricing Supplement).

Reset Notes will, in respect of an initial period, bear interest
at the initial fixed rate of interest specified in the relevant
Final Terms. Thereafter, the fixed rate of interest will be
reset on one or more date(s) specified in the relevant Final
Terms by reference to a mid-market swap rate, as adjusted
for any applicable margin, in each case, as may be specified
in the relevant Final Terms.

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a rate determined:
(a) on the same basis as the floating rate under a
notional interest rate swap transaction in the

relevant Specified Currency governed by an
agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA Definitions
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Zero Coupon Notes:

Exempt Notes:

(as published by the International Swaps and
Derivatives Association, Inc., and as amended and
updated as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of
the Notes of the relevant Series); or

(b) on the basis of the reference rate set out in the form
of Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes,
Pricing Supplement).

Interest on Floating Rate Notes in respect of each Interest
Period, as agreed prior to issue by the Issuer and the relevant
Dealer, will be payable on such Interest Payment Dates, and
will be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction,
as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant
Dealer.

The margin (if any) relating to such floating rate will be
agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer for each
Series of Floating Rate Notes.

Floating Rate Notes may also have a maximum interest rate,
a minimum interest rate or both.

Floating Rate Notes may also include an interest step-up
provision whereby the Margin payable increases at pre-
determined periods to a pre-determined percentage per
annum as indicated in the form of Final Terms (or, in the
case of Exempt Notes, Pricing Supplement).

Floating Rate Notes may also include an interest step-down
provision whereby the Margin payable decreases at pre-
determined periods to a pre-determined percentage per
annum as indicated in the form of Final Terms (or, in the
case of Exempt Notes, Pricing Supplement).

Zero Coupon Notes will be offered and sold at a discount to
their nominal amount and will not bear interest.

The Issuer may issue Exempt Notes which are Index Linked
Notes, Dual Currency Notes, Partly Paid Notes or Notes
redeemable in one or more instalments.

Index Linked Notes: Payments of principal in respect of
Index Linked Redemption Notes or of interest in respect of
Index Linked Interest Notes will be calculated by reference
to such index and/or formula or to changes in the prices of
securities or commodities or to such other factors as the
Issuer and the relevant Dealer may agree.

Dual Currency Notes: Payments (whether in respect of
principal or interest and whether at maturity or otherwise) in
respect of Dual Currency Notes will be made in such
currencies, and based on such rates of exchange, as the
Issuer and the relevant Dealer may agree.
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Redemption:

Partly Paid Notes: The Issuer may issue Notes in respect of
which the issue price is paid in separate instalments in such
amounts and on such dates as the Issuer and the relevant
Dealer may agree.

Notes redeemable in instalments: The Issuer may issue
Notes which may be redeemed in separate instalments in
such amounts and on such dates as the Issuer and the
relevant Dealer may agree.

The Issuer may agree with any Dealer and, in case of the
English Law Notes, the Trustee that Exempt Notes may be
issued in a form not contemplated by the Terms and
Conditions for the English Law Notes and Terms and
Conditions for the Italian Law Notes, in which event the
relevant provisions will be included in the applicable Pricing
Supplement.

The form of Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes,
the applicable Pricing Supplement) will indicate either that
the relevant Notes cannot be redeemed prior to their stated
maturity (other than in the case of Exempt Notes in specified
instalments, if applicable, or for taxation reasons or
following an Event of Default) or that such Notes will be
redeemable at the option of the Issuer and/or (in the case of
Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes only) at the
option of the Issuer due to a MREL Disqualification Event,
as described in Condition 5.6 (Issuer Call due to MREL
Disqualification Event) of the Terms and Conditions for the
English Law Notes and Condition 5.6 (Issuer Call due to
MREL Disqualification Event) of the Terms and Conditions
for the Italian Law Notes and/or (in case of Subordinated
Notes only) at the option of the Issuer for regulatory
reasons, as described in Condition 5.3 (Redemption for
regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) of the Terms and
Conditions for the English Law Notes and Condition 5.3
(Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) of
the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes and/or at
the option of the Noteholders upon giving notice to the
Noteholders or the Issuer, as the case may be, on a date or
dates specified prior to such stated maturity and at a price or
prices and on such other terms as may be agreed between
the Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

Other than following an Event of Default, any redemption of
Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes or
Subordinated Notes prior to their stated maturity in
accordance with the Terms and Conditions for the English
Law Notes and Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law
Notes (including early redemption for taxation reasons or
early redemption for regulatory reasons) will be subject to
the provisions of, respectively, Condition 5.13 and 5.14 of
the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and
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Denomination of Notes:

Taxation:

Negative Pledge:

Cross Default:

Status of the Notes:

Status of the Senior Notes:

Condition 5.13 and 5.14 the Terms and Conditions of the
Italian Law Notes.

Notes having a maturity of less than one year may be subject
to restrictions on their denomination and distribution, see
"Certain Restrictions — Notes having a maturity of less than
one year" above.

Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be
specified in the form of Final Terms (Specified
Denomination) save that (i) the minimum Specified
Denomination of each Note which is specified in the form of
Final Terms as being a Senior Note or a Subordinated Note
shall be Euro 100,000 (or its equivalent in any other
currency as at the date of issue of the relevant Notes) and (ii)
the minimum Specified Denomination of each Note which is
specified in the form of Final Terms as being a Non-
Preferred Senior Note shall be Euro 250,000 (or its
equivalent in any other currency as at the date of issue of the
relevant Notes).

All payments in respect of the Notes will be made without
deduction for or on account of withholding taxes imposed
by any Tax Jurisdiction as provided in Condition 6
(Taxation) of the Terms and Conditions for the English Law
Notes and Condition 6 (Taxation) of the Terms and
Conditions for the Italian Law Notes. In the event that any
such deduction is made, the Issuer will, save in certain
limited circumstances provided in Condition 6 (Taxation) of
the Terms and Conditions for the English Law Notes and
Condition 6 (Taxation) of the Terms and Conditions for the
Italian Law Notes, be required to pay additional amounts, in
respect of principal and interest in the case of Senior Notes
or Non-Preferred Senior Notes (if permitted by MREL
Requirements), or interest only in the case of Subordinated
Notes, to cover the amounts so deducted.

The terms of the Notes will not contain a negative pledge
provision.

None.

Notes may be issued by BPS on a subordinated basis (as
Subordinated Notes) or unsubordinated basis (as Senior
Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes), as specified in the
relevant Final Terms.

The Senior Notes will constitute direct, unconditional,
unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and
will rank pari passu among themselves and (save for certain
obligations required to be preferred by law) equally with all
other unsecured obligations (other than obligations ranking
junior to the Senior Notes from time to time (including Non-
Preferred Senior Notes and any further obligations permitted
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Status of the Non-Preferred Senior
Notes:

Status of the Subordinated Notes:

Subordination:

Substitution and/or Variation:

by law to rank, or expressed to rank, junior to the Senior
Notes, on or following the Issue Date), if any) of the Issuer,
from time to time outstanding, as described in Condition 2.1
(Status of the Senior Notes) of the Terms and Conditions for
the English Law Notes and Condition 2.1 (Status of the
Senior Notes) of the Terms and Conditions for the Italian
Law Notes.

The Non-Preferred Senior Notes (being Notes intended to
qualify as strumenti di debito chirografario di secondo
livello of the Issuer, as defined under Article 12-bis of the
Italian Consolidated Banking Act) constitute direct,
unconditional, unsubordinated, and unsecured and non-
preferred obligations of the Issuer, ranking junior to Senior
Notes and any other unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations of the Issuer which rank, or are expressed to
rank in their terms, senior to the Non-Preferred Senior
Notes, pari passu without any preference among
themselves, with all other present or future obligations of the
Issuer which do not rank or are not expressed by their terms
to rank junior or senior to the relevant Non-Preferred Senior
Notes and in priority to any subordinated instruments and to
the claims of shareholders of the Issuer, pursuant to Article
91, section 1-bis, letter c-bis of the Italian Consolidated
Banking Act, as described in Condition 2.2 (Status of the
Non-Preferred Senior Notes) of the Terms and Conditions
for the English Law Notes and Condition 2.2 (Status of the
Non-Preferred Senior Notes) of the Terms and Conditions
for the Italian Law Notes.

The Subordinated Notes will constitute unconditional,
subordinated unsecured obligations of the Issuer and,
(subject to Condition 2.3 (Status of the Subordinated Notes)
of the Terms and Conditions for the English Law Notes and
Condition 2.3 (Status of the Subordinated Notes) of the
Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes), will rank
pari passu and without any preference among themselves
and after all unsubordinated, unsecured obligations of the
Issuer, as described in Condition 2.3 (Status of the
Subordinated Notes) of the Terms and Conditions for the
English Law Notes and Condition 2.3 (Status of the
Subordinated Notes) of the Terms and Conditions for the
Italian Law Notes.

Payments in respect of the Subordinated Notes will be
subordinated as described in Condition 2.3 (Status of the
Subordinated Notes) of the Terms and Conditions for the
English Law Notes and Condition 2.3 (Status of the
Subordinated Notes) of the Terms and Conditions for the
Italian Law Notes.

With respect, in case of English Law Notes, to (i) any Series
of Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes, if at any
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Rating:

time a MREL Disqualification Event occurs, and if
Substitution or Variation is specified as being applicable in
the form of Final Terms, or (ii) all Notes, if Substitution or
Variation is specified as being applicable in the form of
Final Terms, in order to ensure the effectiveness and
enforceability of Condition 18 (Statutory Loss Absorption
Powers) of the Terms and Conditions for the English Law
Notes, then the Issuer may, subject to giving any notice
required to be given to, and receiving any consent required
from, the Competent Authority and/or as appropriate the
Relevant Resolution Authority (without any requirement for
the consent or approval of the holders of the relevant Notes
of that Series) and having given not less than 30 nor more
than 60 days' notice to the Trustee and the holders of the
Notes of that Series (or such other notice periods as may be
specified in the form of Final Terms), at any time either
substitute all (but not some only) of such Notes, or vary the
terms of such Notes so that they remain or, as appropriate,
become, Qualifying Senior Notes, Qualifying Non-Preferred
Senior Notes or Qualifying Subordinated Notes, as
applicable, provided that such variation or substitution does
not itself give rise to any right of the Issuer to redeem the
varied or substituted securities.

With respect, in case of Italian Law Notes, to (i) any Series
of Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes, if at any
time a MREL Disqualification Event occurs, and if
Variation is specified as being applicable in the form of
Final Terms, or (ii) all Notes, if Variation is specified as
being applicable in the form of Final Terms, in order to
ensure the effectiveness and enforceability of Condition 16
(Statutory Loss Absorption Powers) of the Terms and
Conditions for the Italian Law Notes, then the Issuer may,
subject to giving any notice required to be given to, and
receiving any consent required from, the Competent
Authority and/or as appropriate the Relevant Resolution
Authority (without any requirement for the consent or
approval of the holders of the relevant Notes of that Series)
and having given not less than 30 nor more than 60 days'
notice to the Paying Agents and the holders of the Notes of
that Series (or such other notice periods as may be specified
in the form of Final Terms), at any time vary the terms of
such Notes so that they remain or, as appropriate, become,
Qualifying Senior Notes, Qualifying Non-Preferred Senior
Notes or Qualifying Subordinated Notes, as applicable,
provided that such variation does not itself give rise to any
right of the Issuer to redeem the varied securities.

The Programme has not been rated. Series of Notes issued
under the Programme may be rated or unrated. Where a
Series of Notes is rated, such rating will be disclosed in the
form of Final Terms (or applicable Pricing Supplement, in
the case of Exempt Notes). A security rating is not a
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Approval and Listing:

Governing Law:

Benchmark discontinuation:

recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be
subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time
by the assigning rating agency.

Application has been made to the CSSF to approve this
document as a base prospectus. Application has also been
made for Notes issued under the Programme to be listed on
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

Notes may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may
be, on other or further stock exchanges or markets agreed
between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer in relation to the
Series. Notes which are neither listed nor admitted to trading
on any market may also be issued.

The form of Final Terms (or applicable Pricing Supplement,
in the case of Exempt Notes) will state whether or not the
relevant Notes are to be listed and/or admitted to trading
and, if so, on which stock exchanges and/or markets.

The English Law Notes and any non-contractual obligations
arising out of or in connection with the Notes will be
governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with,
English law, except Condition 2.2 (Status of the Non-
Preferred Senior Notes) of the Terms and Conditions for the
English Law Notes, Condition 2.3 (Status of the
Subordinated Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of the
English Law Notes and Condition 18 (Statutory Loss
Absorption Powers) of the Terms and Conditions for the
English Law Notes which shall be governed by, and
construed in accordance with, Italian law.

The Italian Law Notes and any non-contractual obligations
arising out of or in connection with them shall be governed
by, and construed in accordance with, Italian Law.

See "Terms and Conditions for the English Law Notes —
Governing Law and Submission to Jurisdiction" and "Terms
and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes — Governing Law
and Submission to Jurisdiction".

Notwithstanding the provisions in Condition 3.3 (Interest on
Floating Rate Notes) or Condition 3.2 (Interest on Reset
Notes), if a Benchmark Event occurs in relation to an
Original Reference Rate when any Rate of Interest (or any
component part thereof) remains to be determined by
reference to such Original Reference Rate, then the Issuer
shall use its reasonable endeavours to appoint an
Independent Adviser, as soon as reasonably practicable, to
determine a Successor Rate, failing which an Alternative
Rate (in accordance with Condition 3.4(b) (Successor Rate
or Alternative Rate)) and, in either case, an Adjustment
Spread if any (in accordance with Condition 3.4(c)
(Adjustment Spread)) and whether any Benchmark
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Selling Restrictions:

United States Selling Restrictions:

Amendments (in accordance with Condition 3.4(d)
(Benchmark Amendments)) are necessary to ensure the
proper operation of such Successor Rate, Alternative Rate
and/or Adjustment Spread (all as defined in the Conditions).

There are restrictions on the offer, sale and transfer of the
Notes in the United States, the EEA (including Italy, France,
Belgium, the United Kingdom, Japan Singapore,
Switzerland and such other restrictions as may be required
in connection with the offering and sale of a particular
Tranche of Notes, see "Subscription and Sale").

Regulation S, Category 2. TEFRA C or D/TEFRA not
applicable, as specified in the form of Final Terms (or
applicable Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt
Notes).

Non-Preferred Senior Notes shall be distributed to qualified
investors only in accordance with Law No. 205 of 27
December 2017 on the budget of the Italian government for
2018.
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RISK FACTORS

In purchasing Notes, investors assume the risk that the Issuer may become insolvent or otherwise be
unable to make all payments due in respect of the Notes. There is a wide range of factors, including
those set out below, which individually or together could result in the Issuer becoming unable to make
all payments due. The inability of the Issuers to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in
connection with any Notes may occur for other reasons outside the Issuer's control which may not be
considered significant by the Issuer based on information currently available to them or which they
may not currently be able to anticipate. The Issuer has identified in this Base Prospectus a number of
factors which could materially adversely affect its business and ability to make payments due.

In addition, factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with
Notes issued under the Programme are also described below.

The Issuer believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing
in the Notes issued under the Programme, but the inability of the Issuer to pay interest, principal or
other amounts on or in connection with any Notes may occur for other reasons which may not be
considered significant risks by the Issuer based on the information currently available to it or which it
may not currently be able to anticipate.

Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Base
Prospectus and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.

FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT THE ISSUER'S ABILITY TO FULFIL ITS
OBLIGATIONS UNDER NOTES ISSUED UNDER THE PROGRAMME

The risk below have been classified into the following categories:

Risks relating to the Issuer’s financial position

Risks relating to the Issuer’s business activity and industry

Risks related to the internal control of the Issuer

Risks related to the political, environmental, social and governance environment of the Issuer

Risks relating to the Issuer’s financial position
Risks related to the European sovereign debt crisis

The continued deterioration of the creditworthiness of various countries, including (among others)
Greece, together with the potential for contagion to spread to other countries in Europe, including
Italy, has exacerbated the severity of the global financial crisis. Such developments have posed a
significant risk to the stability and status quo of the Economic and Monetary Union (EMU), and have
raised concerns about its long-term sustainability. Furthermore, the ECB’s unconventional monetary
policy tools have contributed to ease market tensions, limiting the refinancing risk for the banking
system and leading to a tightening of credit spreads of sovereign risk.

These concerns may impact the value of the assets of Eurozone banks and their ability to access the
funding they need or may increase the costs of such funding, which may cause such banks to suffer
liquidity stress. If the current concerns over sovereign and bank solvency continue, there is a danger
that interbank funding may become generally unavailable or available only at elevated interest rates,
which might impact the Issuer’s access to, and cost of, funding. Should the BPS group (the BPS
Group or the Group) be unable to continue to source a sustainable funding profile, the BPS Group’s
ability to fund its financial obligations at a competitive cost, or at all, could be adversely impacted.

There is a risk that the future evolution of the macroeconomic outlook may have negative effects on
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the equity, economic and financial position of the Issuer and/or the BPS Group.

The earning capacity and stability of the Issuer are affected by the general state of the economy, the
dynamics of financial markets and, in particular, the strength and growth prospects of the economy in
Italy (and the creditworthiness of its sovereign debt), as well as that of the Eurozone as a whole. In
addition, the risk remains that a default of one or more countries in the Eurozone, the extent and
precise nature of which is impossible to predict, could lead to the expulsion or voluntary withdrawal
of one or more countries from the Eurozone or a disorderly break-up of the Eurozone, either of which
could significantly disrupt financial markets and possibly trigger another global recession.

The performance of the BPS Group is influenced by the general economic situation, both nationally
and in the euro area as a whole, and by the dynamics of the financial markets and, in particular, by the
solidity and growth prospects of the economy in the geographical areas in which the BPS Group
operates. In particular, the profitability and solvency of the BPS Group are influenced by the
performance of factors such as investor expectations and confidence, the level and volatility of short
and long-term interest rates, exchange rates, the liquidity of financial markets, the availability and cost
of capital, the sustainability of sovereign debt, household income and consumer spending,
unemployment levels, inflation and house prices.

Adverse changes in these factors, particularly in periods of economic and financial crisis, could lead
to the BPS Group suffering losses, increases in funding costs and reductions in the value of assets
held, with a potential negative impact on the BPS Group.

Liquidity risk

The Issuer’s business is subject to risks concerning liquidity which are inherent in its banking
operations, and could affect the Issuer’s ability meet payment commitments or an incapacity to
finance assets with the necessary punctuality on a cost/effective basis. In order to ensure that the
Issuer continues to meet its funding obligations and to generally maintain or grow its business, it
relies on customer savings and transmission balances, as well as ongoing access to the wholesale
lending markets. The ability of the Issuer to access wholesale and retail funding sources on favourable
economic terms is dependent on a wide range of factors, including issues out of its control, such as
liquidity constraints, general market conditions and confidence in the Italian banking system.

In recent years, global financial systems have been subject to considerable turmoil and uncertainty
and, as at the date of this Base Prospectus, the short and medium term outlook for the global economy
remains uncertain. The repricing of sovereign risk following the recent crisis has contributed to high
volatility and uncertainty, weighing negatively on the global financial system.

The current credit conditions of the global and Italian capital markets have led to the most severe
examination of the banking system's capacity to absorb sudden significant changes in the funding and
liquidity environment in recent history, and have had an impact on the wider economy. Individual
institutions have faced varying degrees of stress. Should the BPS Group be unable to continue to
source a sustainable funding profile which can absorb these sudden shocks, BPS Group's ability to
fund its financial obligations at a competitive cost, or at all, could be adversely affected.

Further to the above, as at 30 June 2021, the Issuer had no exposure to US subprime mortgages and no
related hedging contracts or other credit derivatives on loans. As of the same date, the Issuer’s
financial portfolio mainly comprises government securities with a limited duration (less than 4 years).

BPS relies on internal systems in order to monitor, control and mitigate liquidity risk; the
management process aims at verifying BPS Group’s ability to meet ordinary and extraordinary
payment obligations and minimise the associated expenses. In detail, the Issuer:
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. uses specific supervision instruments in order to monitor operating liquidity (short-term
liquidity between overnight and 3 months) and structural liquidity (medium- to long-term
liquidity with a structural maturity ladder);

. compares the liquidity positions measured (both operating and structural) with the relevant
early warning thresholds and calculates early warning indicators and contingency indicators;
and

. estimates the impact of different hypothetical scenarios (stress tests) on the liquidity position

resulting from ordinary monitoring activities.

. The Issuer believes that the policies adopted and the controls implemented by the BPS Group
are adequate to keep liquidity risk under control. However, as at the date of this Base
Prospectus, it cannot be ruled out that unknown and unexpected events might occur which
could negatively affect the Issuer’s ability to meet its financial obligations as they fall due or
to fulfil its commitments to lend.

Risks associated with the Issuer's rating

The risk associated with the ability of an issuer to meet its obligations generated by the issue of debt
instruments and money market instruments is defined by reference to credit ratings assigned by
independent rating agencies. A rating may be suspended, lowered or withdrawn at any time by the
rating agency by which it has been assigned. Suspension, lowering or withdrawal of an assigned
rating can negatively affect the market price of the bonds issued.

The current long-term counterparty credit ratings of the Issuer are, respectively, “BB+” from Fitch,
“BBB (low)” from DBRS Ratings GmbH (DBRS Morningstar) and “BBB-" from Scope Rating
GmbH; the current short-term counterparty credit ratings are, respectively, “B” from Fitch, “R-2
(middle)” from DBRS Ratings GmbH (DBRS Morningstar). A downgrade of any of the Issuer’s
ratings would result in higher funding and refinancing costs for the Issuer in the capital markets. Such
downgrade may also affect or effectively limit access to the capital markets, because investing in the
Issuer will in such case likely be considered less attractive (also because of the Issuer's possible
reputational damage) and/or will no longer be allowed for certain investors. In addition, a downgrade
of any of the Issuer’s ratings may limit the Issuer’s opportunities to extend mortgage loans and may
have a particularly adverse effect on the Issuer’s image as a participant in the capital markets, as well
as in the eyes of its clients. A rating downgrade might restrict the availability of funding or increase
its cost for individuals and companies at a local level.

These factors may also have an adverse effect on the Issuer’s financial condition and/or results of
operations and, as a consequence, on the rating assigned to the Notes.

Risks relating to the Issuer’s business activity and industry
Credit and counterparty risks

Credit and counterparty risks are associated with the event that the financial soundness and outlook of
the Issuer or of the BPS Group deteriorate due to the risk of losses resulting from any inability or
refusal by customers (including Sovereign States) to meet their contractual obligations, relating to
lending, commitments, letters of credit, derivatives instruments, foreign currency transactions and
other transactions.

Even though lending is the core business of the BPS Group, it is performed with the objective to
achieve a controlled growth of lending throughout the country by means of a risk-taking strategy
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focused on the most attractive geographic areas, customer segments and sectors of economic activity.

This strategy consists of identifying risk ceilings that can be taken with lending (sector and individual
concentration risk limits, etc.) and ensuring that they are consistent with the BPS Group’s budget
targets and business plan. Improvement of credit quality is pursued by means of constant monitoring
of the loan portfolio, assessing compliance with the risk strategy agreed on, with a focus on major risk
exposures.

A decrease in the creditworthiness of third parties could adversely affect the ability of the Issuer due
to difficulty obtaining liquidity and/or could have an adverse impact on the results of the Issuer’s
operations.

Risks related to quality of loans

Credit quality in the Italian market is affected by the continuing weakness of the economy. Moreover,
within the banking system generally, a growing number of companies are struggling to repay loans.
The proportion of loans to companies experiencing temporary difficulties (substandard and
restructured loans) is steadily increasing, while the deterioration of loans to households has remained
moderate.

The Issuer, in line with market practice, has taken significant measures to dispose of its non-
performing loans which is an important element of its Strategic Plan (as defined below).

However, the Italian banking system is currently recording high levels of non-performing loans and,
as a result, numerous other banks may seek to dispose of these assets, which may result in excess
supply and downward price pressure.

The Issuer may therefore find it difficult to identify buyers for non-performing loans or only find
buyers willing to buy at low prices, which may result in adverse consequences for the Issuer's
financial condition and results of operations.

Interest rate risk

The interest rate risk consists of the possibility of incurring losses due to reductions in the value of
assets and/or increases in the value of liabilities caused by adverse changes in interest rates on
positions not included in the trading portfolio. The methodology used by BPS for the analysis of BPS
Group’s sensitivity to interest rate risk comprises application of the internal models for strategic Asset
& Liability Management (ALM). These analyses are also complemented by the measurements of an
internal model for the daily calculation of Value at Risk (VaR) on debt instruments of the banking
and trading portfolios which are exposed to market risks.

The internal processes for control and management of the interest rate risks associated with an adverse
change in the fair value of assets and liabilities or a negative impact on the interest margin are based
on a monthly (for ALM indicators) and daily (for Market VaR estimates) monitoring of the BPS
Group’s risk exposure, supported by a system of quantitative limits, thresholds and alerts that globally
reflect the risk appetite of the BPS Group and its main components.

The main sources of interest rate risk from fair value consist of deposit/fundraising transactions
(particularly, debt securities and sight deposits statistically modelled) and fixed-rate
lending/investment transactions (mainly loans and debt securities); the interest rate risk from cash
flow is originated by the sight and indexed rate assets and liabilities which reprice in the time horizon
or short-term fixed rate operations which are renewed.

The possibility of movements in interest rates may have negative impacts on the present and future
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profitability arising from assets and liabilities generating interest margin in the BPS Group’s balance
sheet.

Risks related to the Strategic Plan

On 30 March 2021, the Board of Directors of BPS approved the BPS Group’s 2021-2025 Strategic
goals and projections (the “Strategic Plan”).

The Strategic Plan contains objectives to be met by 2023 (the “Plan Objectives” or the “Projected
Data”) based on assumptions of both a general nature and a discretionary nature linked to the impact
of specific operational and organisational actions that BPS intends to take during the period of time
covered by the Strategic Plan.

The failure or partial occurrence of the assumed events or of the positive expected resulting effects
could lead to potentially significant deviations from the forecasts in the Projected Data or hinder
meeting them with consequent significant negative effects on the assets and the operations, balance
sheets and/or income statement of BPS, and/or the BPS Group.

Competition

In recent years, the Italian banking sector has been characterised by ever-increasing competition
which, together with the low level of interest rates, has caused a sharp reduction in the difference
between borrowing and lending rates and subsequent difficulties in maintaining a positive growth
trend in interest rate margin. In particular, such competition has had two main effects:

(i)  a progressive reduction in the differential between lending and borrower interest rates, which
may result in the BPS Group facing difficulties in maintaining its actual rate of growth in
interest rate margins; and

(i) a progressive reduction in commissions and fees, particularly from dealing on behalf of third
parties and orders’ collection, due to competition in prices.

In particular, the banking sector in Italy, as well as in Europe, is experiencing a consolidation phase
featuring a high degree of competition due to the following factors: (i) the introduction of EU
directives aimed at liberalising the European Union banking sector; (ii) the deregulation of the
banking sector and the connected development of “shadow banking” throughout the European Union,
and specifically in Italy, which has encouraged competition in the traditional banking sector with the
effect of progressively reducing the spread between lending and borrowing rates; (iii) the behaviour of
competitors (also following the changes introduced by Law No. 33 of 24 March 2015, which
converted Decree 3/2015 regarding ‘“cooperative banks” and the aggregative processes which
followed or which could follow); (iv) consumer demand; (v) the profits of the Italian banking industry
focused on revenues from fees, which lead to increased competition in the asset management and
investment banking services fields; (vi) the change in several Italian tax and banking laws; (vii) the
advance of services with a strong element of technological innovation, such as internet banking and
mobile banking; and (viii) the influx of new competitors, and other factors not necessarily under the
BPS Group’s control.

All the above factors may adversely affect the BPS Group’s financial condition and resulting
operations. In addition, downturns in the Italian economy could add to the competitive pressure
through, for example, increased price pressure and lower business volumes for which to compete.

The Issuer may be unable to maintain capital adequacy requirements

The rules on capital adequacy for banks define the prudential minimum capital requirements, the
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quality of capital resources, and risk mitigation instruments. Such rules are complex and evolve
regularly. In addition, the European Central Bank (ECB), as well as the Bank of Italy, can and do
impose on the Group, as permitted by such rules, additional requirements with respect to its capital,
which may restrict the Group’s operational flexibility and may, should it fail to meet such
requirements, require the Group to adopt additional measures imposed by the ECB or other regulators.
Capital adequacy requirements include — in addition to the capital ratios and buffer provided by the
CRR -the following main requirements: (a) the requirement to maintain a Minimum Requirement for
Own Funds and Eligible Liabilities (MREL), expressed as a percentage of the total liabilities and own
funds of the institution, in view of facilitating a smooth resolution of the bank, in the event of a
resolution decision; and (b) a Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR), aimed at ensuring the ongoing ability
of the bank to meet its short-term obligations. Beginning in June 2021, the banks will also have to
meet a binding leverage ratio of 3 per cent, which is aimed at preventing banks from excessively
increasing their leverage levels, and a binding Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR), designed to ensure
that banks finance their long-term activities with stable sources of funding in order to increase banks'
resilience to funding constraints.

For further information please see paragraph “Certain Regulatory Aspects Relating to the Issuer”,
under the section “The Issuer”.

The BPS Group may be subject to the provisions of the EU Recovery and Resolution Directive

The Issuer — as a bank — is subject to the Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive (BRRD), which is
an EU Directive intended to enable a range of actions to be taken in relation to institutions considered
to be at risk of failing (i.e. sale of business, asset separation, bail-in and bridge institution). The taking
of any action under the BRRD in relation to the Issuer could materially affect the value of or any
repayments linked to the Notes.

In particular, if the Issuer is determined to be failing or likely to fail within the meaning of BRRD,
and is put under resolution, the Notes (both the Senior Notes and the Subordinated Notes) may be,
totally or partially written down or converted into equity, if it is deemed necessary by the resolution
Authority in the context of the resolution process. However, for the Subordinated Notes, such risk is
higher as the Subordinated Notes are written down and/or converted, after the shares, but before the
senior debt securities. Thus, depending on the number of resources necessary to resolve the Issuer, the
conversion/write-down of the sole Subordinated Notes may be sufficient to ensure its recovery.

Furthermore, the Single Resolution Board, as resolution Authority, may seek to amend the terms of
the maturity date of the Notes: this circumstance could negatively affect the value of the Notes for the
purpose of reselling the Notes.

The resolution measures may be adopted in isolation or they may be adopted in combination. For
instance, the relevant authority may require a partial conversion of the Notes into ordinary shares of
the Issuer, in addition to the sale of the Issuer’s assets.

In this respect, it is worth mentioning that the BRRD has been subject to significant revisions by
Directive 2019/879/EU (the “BRRD II””). The BRRD II is subject to transposition in Italy by means
of the European Delegation Law (Law No. 53/2021) of 22 April 2021 in the implementation of which
a draft Legislative Decree transposing BRRD II has been filed in August 2021 with the competent
Parliament Committees for their examination.

For further information please see paragraph “Certain Regulatory Aspects Relating to the Issuer”,
under the section “The Issuer”.

COVID-19
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The outbreak during the first half of 2020 of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) was declared a
pandemic by the World Health Organisation, and the Health and Human Services Secretary declared a
public health emergency in the United States in response to the outbreak; likewise, the Italian
Government declared a state of emergency and passed a number of emergency measures to deal with
the outbreak, including restrictions on travel, free movement of people and possible institutional
closure; this continued during the second half of 2020 and the beginning of 2021 with “second wave”
and “third wave” restrictions. However, in early 2021, a large-scale vaccination campaign has begun.
The global economy has shown an uneven recovery both at the geographical and sectoral level, which
has been strongly dependent on the speed of vaccine distribution in each country. The United States
and United Kingdom are benefitting from an advanced vaccination campaign whilst (i) the EU is
suffering from a greater slowness in inoculations and (ii) emerging countries are lagging behind,
excluding China, where the virus is substantially under control and the economy exceeds pre-crisis
levels. Therefore, this outbreak (and any future outbreaks) has led (and may continue to lead) to
disruptions in the economies of those nations where COVID-19 has arisen and may in the future arise,
which includes Italy, and may result in adverse impacts on the global economy in general.

These circumstances have led to volatility in the capital markets, which may lead to volatility in or
disruption to the credit markets at any time and may adversely affect the value of the Notes. The
potential impacts, including a global, regional or other economic recession, are increasingly uncertain
and difficult to assess. If the spread of COVID-19 increases or persists for a significant period of time,
or other measures are put in place, this could have a materially negative impact on the global
economy. Investors should note the risk that the virus, or any governmental or societal response to the
virus, may affect the business activities and financial results of the Issuer and Group, and, or may
impact the functioning of the financial system(s) needed to make regular and timely payments under
the Notes, and therefore the ability of the Issuer to make payments under the Notes.

Moreover, the outbreak of COVID-19 and the measures taken in relation thereto, will directly or
indirectly result in increases of defaults under mortgage loans. Payment holidays have been granted
and could be granted in the future pursuant to emergency legislation to borrowers in distress due to
the COVID-19 outbreak, under which borrowers are allowed to defer making payments for certain
amounts of time. This may result in payment disruptions and possibly higher losses under the
mortgage loans. The impact will strongly depend on the duration and severity of the COVID-19
outbreak. Even if the Italian GDP resurged from the depression of 2020, it has still registered a
contraction in the first quarter of 2021, but a decisive recovery is expected in the coming months
thanks to acceleration of the domestic vaccine campaign.

The Issuer may have incur significant costs to store or mitigate the effects of the foregoing. The
Issuer's prospects, financial condition and results of operations in particular may be materially
affected by the above factors, events and developments. Investors should note the risk that the virus,
or any governmental or societal response to the virus, may (i) affect the business activities and
financial results of the Issuer and therefore may prevent the ability of the Issuer to make payments
under the Notes and (ii) increase the amount of NPL in the financial statements of the Issuer.

Forthcoming regulatory changes

The Issuer is subject to extensive regulation and supervision by, among others, the Bank of Italy,
CONSOB, the ECB and the SRB. In addition, the Issuer must comply with financial services laws that
govern its marketing and selling practices.

Changes in the regulatory framework and in how such regulations are interpreted and/or applied by
the supervisory authorities may have a material effect on the BPS Group’s business and operations.
The manner in which the new framework of banking laws and regulations will be applied to the
operations of financial institutions is still evolving. No assurance can be given that laws and
regulations will be adopted, enforced or interpreted in a manner that will not have an adverse effect on
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the business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations of the BPS Group.

Prospective investors in the Notes should consult their own advisors as to the consequences for them
of the application of the above regulations as implemented by each Member State.

For further information please see paragraph “Certain Regulatory Aspects Relating to the Issuer”,
under the section “The Issuer”.

The Issuer may be affected by new accounting standards

Under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), for the purposes of preparing its
consolidated financial statements, the Issuer uses estimates and assumptions that may have a
significant effect on the values recorded on the balance sheet and income statement, as well as on the
reporting of contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates and assumptions are applied on a going
concern basis and are strongly influenced by growing uncertainty of the economic environment and
current market conditions, the degree of volatility of financial parameters and the presence of high
indicators for credit quality deterioration. Parameters and information used for the determination of
estimates and assumptions are particularly affected by factors which by their nature are unpredictable.
As a result, those estimates and assumptions may vary from period to period and, accordingly, it
cannot be ruled out that amounts recorded in the Issuer’s most recent financial statements and those
recorded in the future will differ, even significantly, following changes to the valuation methods to be
applied.

The values recorded on the balance sheet and income statement, as well as on the reporting of
contingent assets and liabilities are significantly affected by the above factors and, accordingly, even
if the estimates and assumptions adopted are subject to periodic review in order to take into account
changes in the relevant period, it cannot be ruled out that a worsening performance will have an
adverse effect on the items subject to valuation and, ultimately, on the financial condition and results
of operations of the Issuer.

Risks associated with pending legal proceedings

As at the date of the Base Prospectus, the Issuer and the BPS Group companies are/were parties to
civil and administrative judiciary proceedings associated with their ordinary operations; for some of
these proceedings, the Issuer has allocated, as recognised in its consolidated financial statements, a
specific provision for contingencies and liability, intended to cover potential liabilities resulting from
the same proceedings.

Even though the outcome of the many legal proceedings to which the BPS Group is a party is
intrinsically difficult to forecast and, therefore, it cannot be ruled out that an unfavourable outcome of
some of them might impact the BPS Group’s financial, income and equity situation, the Issuer
believes that the allocated provision is adequate to meet any unfavourable outcomes. Moreover, the
above proceedings are not significant when considered individually.

For other information on the pending legal proceedings to which the BPS Group is a party, reference
is made to section “The Issuer” of this Base Prospectus.

Risks associated with the transformation process of the Issuer into a joint-stock company
Further to enactment of Law Decree No. 3 of 24 January 2015 entitled "Urgent measures for the
banking system and investment" (the Decree 3/2015), which was published and converted into Italian

law on 25 March 2015 by Law No. 33 dated 24 March 2015, BPS started the process of conversion
from cooperative bank (banca popolare) to a joint stock company and, on 5 August 2021, its Board of
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Directors approved the draft of the Articles of Association aimed at transforming the Bank into a joint
stock company, which will be submitted to the Supervisory Authority.

In the event of any failure by the Issuer to comply with the legislative provisions mentioned above
and to complete the transformation into a joint-stock company, the Bank of Italy may, infer alia,
adopt a prohibition on undertaking new transactions or request to the European Central Bank the
revocation of the authorisation to carry out banking activities and to the Italian Minister of the
Economy and Finance the compulsory administrative liquidation.

Finally, as a consequence of the transformation into a joint-stock company, the Issuer's shareholders
may be subject to a limitation on their right of withdrawal, as provided for in Article 28, paragraph 2-
ter of Consolidated Banking Act, where this is necessary to ensure the inclusion of the shares in the
CET1 capital ratio. It should be noted that any reimbursement to the shareholders exercising
withdrawals right - i.e. the shareholders who did not take part in the resolution regarding the
transformation of the Issuer and who do not wish to be part of the new legal entity - will have to be
made through the use of profits and reserves with a consequent possible impact on the Issuer's balance
sheet.

Risk associated with inspections by regulatory authorities

From October 2018 to February 2019, the ECB launched a new on-site inspection activity intended to
focus on the analysis of accounting processes, policies and lending practices with a deep dive into
individual credit positions belonging to the Corporate and SME - Corporate (Small and Medium
Enterprises) segments with reference to the situation at the end of June 2018 (Credit File Review).
After receipt of the final report of the inspection in May 2019, the Bank developed a specific action
plan that is still being fully implemented, in order to address the findings provided by the Authority.

From May 2019 to July 2019, a new ECB on-site inspection took place to assess the identification,
measurement and management processes of market risk and interest rate risk in the banking book
(IRRBB) within the Bank. On 21 November 2019 the ECB formalised the final report of the
inspection activity and thereafter, on 16 March 2020, submitted to the Bank the draft follow-up letter
containing the supervisory recommendations and the required remedial actions. Following the closing
meeting held with the ECB on 15 April 2020, the Bank is still waiting to receive the final letter from
the ECB inspection in order to draw-up a plan of actions to be implemented.

In addition, on 29 November 2019, the ECB required the Bank to: (a) update its Non Performing
Exposures (NPE) strategy; (b) further enhance the functioning of the Board of Directors; and (c)
strengthen the organisational structure, including governance and control arrangements, with specific
regard to the compliance and the internal audit functions, taking into account the results of an
independent assessment made by external advisors. A revised NPE strategy was approved by the
Board of Directors of the Bank on 20 December 2019 setting more ambitious NPE reduction targets;
on 15 April 2020, the ECB asked the Bank to submit a further update on its NPE strategy no later than
30 September 2020, considering the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. The remaining initiatives are
addressed by specific Actions Plans shared with the Authority, whose implementation is still
underway.

The BPS Group is subject, in the course of its ordinary activities, to inspections and other supervisory
actions carried out by the supervisory authority that could require organisational interventions or
strengthening of internal functions aimed at addressing weaknesses identified during inspections
which might, furthermore, result in sanction proceedings which may have negative effects on
operations, financial and capital position and economic results of the Issuer.

Risks associated with recent ECB guidance on NPL provisioning
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The ECB published on 20 March 2017 its final guidance on non-performing loans (NPLs). It outlines
measures, processes and best practices which banks should incorporate when tackling NPLs. The
ECB expects banks to fully adhere to the guidance in line with the severity and scale of NPLs in their
portfolios. On 15 March 2018, the ECB published an addendum to the guidance mentioned above
which sets out the ECB’s supervisory expectations for prudent levels of provisions for new NPLs.

In this context, on 26 April 2019, the EU Regulation no. 2019/630, which introduces common
minimum loss coverage levels for newly originated loans that become non-performing, entered into
force. According to this regulation, where the minimum coverage requirement is not met, the
difference between the actual coverage level and the requirement should be deducted from a bank's
own funds (CET1). The minimum coverage levels thus act as a 'statutory prudential backstop'. The
required coverage increases gradually depending on how long an exposure has been classified as non-
performing, being lower during the first years. This architecture would ensure that the risks associated
with NPL losses that are not sufficiently covered are reflected in institutions' CET1 capital ratios. In
order to facilitate a smooth transition towards the new prudential backstop, the new rules should not
be applied in relation to exposures originated prior to 26 April 2019. No assurance can be given on the
effect of the application of the new rules in relation to the Issuer’s exposures originated after 26 April
2019.

In addition, on 26 June 2020, Regulation (EU) 2020/873 amending CRR and Regulation (EU)
2019/876 as regards adjustments in response to the COVID-19 pandemic has been published, under
which, inter alia, a temporary extension has been provided to the preferential treatment under the
NPL backstop received by NPLs guaranteed by official export credit agencies (ECAs) to NPLs
guaranteed by the public sector in the context of measures aimed at mitigating the economic impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic, recognising the similar characteristics shared by export credit agencies
guarantees and COVID-19 related public guarantees.

Risks related to the internal control of the Issuer
Risk management and exposure to unidentified or unanticipated risks

The BPS Group has devoted significant resources to developing policies, procedures and assessment
methods to manage market, credit, liquidity and operating risks and intends to continue to do so in the
future. Nonetheless, the BPS Group’s risk management techniques and strategies may not be fully
effective in mitigating its risk exposure in all economic market environments or against all types of
risks, including risks that the Issuer fails to identify or anticipate. If existing or potential customers
believe that the BPS Group’s risk management policies and procedures are inadequate, its reputation
as well as its revenues and profits may be negatively affected.

Operational risk

Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes
and or systems, human resources and/or external events. This definition includes legal and conduct
risks, but excludes strategic and reputational risks. Legal risk includes, but is not limited to, exposure
to fines, penalties or punitive damages resulting from supervisory actions, as well as private
settlements.

The BPS Group, being fully aware of the considerable damage to its image and its reputation which
could arise from the occurrence of loss events, adopts a management system suitable, in the opinion
of the Issuer, to mitigate the operational risk effects. This system relies on procedures for the
containment and mitigation of operational risks arising from transactions and for the prevention
and/or limitation of the possible adverse effects resulting from them. However, the adoption of these
measures may be inadequate to deal with the risks potentially arising, in part because of the
unpredictability of the occurrence of risk events.
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The most frequently recurring operational risks and those having the greatest individual impact in
terms of overall amount usually include errors in the execution of day-to-day payments and trading in
securities, litigations and settlement agreements with customers as well as external events, normally
subject to mitigation through the purchase of insurance policies.

Risks related to Sanctioned Countries

The Issuer has clients and partners who are located in various countries around the world and/or who
are active players in markets on a global basis. Some of the countries or territories in which such
customers and partners are located and/or otherwise operate are, or may become, subject to
comprehensive sanctions adopted by Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the
Treasury, the U.S. State Department, any other agency of the U.S. government, the United Nations,
the European Union, Her Majesty's Treasury or the United Kingdom, generally prohibiting all direct
or indirect dealings with such countries or territories (Sanctioned Countries).

The Issuer has consistently adopted stringent sanctions compliance procedures to meet its obligations
under the laws and regulations that apply to its operations and to ensure that violations of sanctions
laws and regulations do not occur. Such procedures include enhanced due diligence on third parties as
well as on goods which fall within the scope of import or export restrictions. The Issuer has also hired
specialised counsel to provide regular advice on sanctions compliance matters. Furthermore, on
October 2019, the quality certification of UNI EN ISO 9001-2008 by DNV (Det Norske Veritas),
obtained on 7 December 2017 in relation to the Issuer’s compliance procedures, has been confirmed.

The relevant revenues generated by the Issuer from business related to Sanctioned Countries (as of the
date of this Base Prospectus being Iran and Russia) currently represent a small portion (less than 1%)
of the Issuer’s total revenues. The Issuer does not maintain any physical presence in Sanctioned
Countries. As of the date of this Base Prospectus, the Issuer has undertaken and continues to
undertake commercial relationships (including both the processing of payments and activities
entailing the use of Issuer’s own resources, such as bank guarantees, bonds, letters of credit, supplier
credits and buyer credits) with counterparties located in Sanctioned Countries or related to the same
Sanctioned Countries. Such commercial transactions have all been, and are, carried out in full
compliance with sanctions laws and regulations as applicable to the Issuer (e.g. comprehensive
sanctions adopted by Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the Treasury, the
U.S. State Department, any other agency of the U.S. government, the United Nations, the European
Union, Her Majesty’s Treasury or the United Kingdom) and are not believed to have caused any
person or entity to violate any sanctions, nor they are expected to result in the Issuer nor the BPS
Group becoming the subject of sanctions.

However, should the relevant sanctions be strengthened and/or should new sanctions be adopted, there
may be prejudicial effects on these operations as well as on the reputation of the Issuer and/or the BPS
Group. This, in turn, could result in negative effects on the capital, financial and economic situation of
the Issuer and/or the BPS Group. Furthermore, it cannot be excluded that the Issuer and/or the BPS
Group may become subject to boycotting or monitoring actions by non-governmental activist groups
seeking to terminate BPS Group’s business relationships with its counterparties in, and its operations
connected to, Sanctioned Countries.

Risks relating to information technology systems
The BPS Group depends on its information technology (IT) and data processing systems to operate its
business, as well as on its continuous maintenance and constant updates. The BPS Group is exposed

to the risk that data could be damaged or lost, removed, disclosed or processed (data breach) for
purposes other than those authorised by the customer, including by unauthorised parties.
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Among the risks that the Issuers face relating to the management of IT systems are the possible
violations of their systems due to unauthorised access to the BPS Group corporate network, or IT
resources, the introduction of viruses into computers or any other form of abuse committed via the
internet. Like attempted hacking, such violations have become more frequent over the years
throughout the world. Both the aggregation of new services for members and clients and the exposure
of online services are becoming increasingly complex and gradually extending to more and more
areas and products. In addition, the authors of cyber threats are using increasingly sophisticated
methods and strategies for criminal purposes.

The possible destruction, damage or loss of customer, employee or third party data, as well as its
removal, unauthorised processing or disclosure, would have a negative impact on the BPS Group’s
business and reputation and could subject the BPS Group to fines, with consequent negative effects on
the BPS Group’s business, results of operations or financial condition.

In addition, changes to relevant regulation could impose more stringent sanctions for violations, and
could have a negative impact on the BPS Group’s business insofar as they lead the BPS Group to
incur additional compliance costs.

Risks related to the political, environmental, social and governance environment of the Issuer
Risks related to a downgrade of the Italian sovereign credit rating

A further downgrade of the Italian sovereign credit rating or the perception that such a downgrade
may occur would be likely to have a material effect in depressing consumer confidence, restricting the
availability, increasing the cost of funding for individuals and companies, depressing economic
activity, increasing unemployment, reducing asset prices and consequently increasing the risk of a
“double dip” recession.

Any further downgrade of the Italian sovereign credit rating or the perception that such a downgrade
may occur may severely destabilise the markets and have a material adverse effect on the BPS
Group’s operating results, financial condition, prospects as well as on the marketability of the Notes.
This might also impact on the BPS Group’s credit ratings, borrowing costs and access to liquidity.

Risks associated with the general economic, financial and other business conditions

The results of the BPS Group are affected by global economic and financial conditions. During
recessionary periods, there may be less demand for loan products and a greater number of the BPS
Group’s customers may default on their loans or other obligations. Interest rate rises may also have an
impact on the demand for mortgages and other loan products. Fluctuations in interest rates in Italy and
in the Euro-zone and in the other markets in which the Issuer operates may influence its performance.

The Issuer’s financial performance is affected by borrower credit quality and general economic
conditions, in particular in Italy and Europe

The Issuer monitors credit quality and manages the specific risk of each counterparty and the overall
risk of the respective loan portfolios, and the Issuer will continue to do so, but there can be no
assurance that such monitoring and risk management will suffice to keep the Issuer’s exposure to
credit risk at acceptable levels. Any deterioration of the creditworthiness of significant individual
customers or counterparties, or of the performance of loans and other receivables, as well as wrong
assessments of creditworthiness or country risks may have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Interest rate rises may also have an impact on the demand for mortgages and other loan products. The
risk arising from the impact of the economy and business climate on the credit quality of the BPS
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Group's debtors and counterparties can affect the overall credit quality and the recoverability of loans
and amounts due from counterparties.

As discussed above, these risks are exacerbated by concerns over the levels of the public debt of
certain Euro-zone countries and their relative weaknesses. A rating downgrade in one of the countries
in which the Issuer operates might restrict the availability of funding or increase its cost for
individuals and companies at a local level. This might have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s
operating results, financial conditions and business outlook.

Governmental and central banks' actions intended to support liquidity may be insufficient or
discontinued

In response to the financial markets crisis, the reduced liquidity available to market operators in the
industry, the increase of risk premiums and the capital requirements demanded by investors,
intervention with respect to the level of capitalisation of banking institutions has had to be further
increased. In many countries, this has been achieved through support measures for the financial
system and direct intervention by governments in the share capital of the banks in different forms. In
order to technically permit such government support, financial institutions were required to pledge
securities deemed appropriate by different central financial institutions as collateral.

The unavailability of liquidity through such measures or the decrease or discontinuation of such
measures by governments and central authorities could result in increased difficulties in procuring
liquidity in the market and/or result in higher costs for the procurement of such liquidity, thereby
adversely affecting the BPS Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Issuer’s financial performance is affected by “systemic risk”

In recent years, the global credit environment has been adversely affected by significant instances of
default, and there can be no certainty that such instances will not occur in the future. Concerns about,
or a default by, one institution could lead to significant liquidity problems, losses or defaults by other
institutions because the commercial soundness of many financial institutions may be closely related as
a result of credit, trading, clearing or other relationships between institutions. This risk is sometimes
referred to as “systemic risk” and may adversely affect financial intermediaries, such as clearing
agencies, clearing houses, banks, securities firms and exchanges with which the Issuer interacts on a
daily basis and therefore could adversely affect the Issuer.

Catastrophic events, terrorist attacks and similar events could have a negative impact on the business
and results of the Issuer

Catastrophic events, terrorist attacks and similar events, as well as the responses thereto, may create
economic and political uncertainties, which could have a negative impact on economic conditions in
the regions in which the Issuer operates and, more specifically, on the business and results of the
Issuer in ways that cannot be predicted.

The relationship of the United Kingdom with the European Union may affect the business of the
Issuer

On 31 January 2020 (“exit day”), the UK withdrew from the EU. Pursuant to Articles 126 and 127 of
the Article 50 of the Treaty on European Union of the intention to withdraw from the European Union
(the “Article 50 Withdrawal Agreement”) that entered into force on exit day, the UK entered an
implementation period during which it negotiated its future relationship with the EU under the
political declaration that accompanied the Article 50 Withdrawal Agreement. During such
implementation period — which ended at 11 p.m. UK time (midnight CET) on 31 December 2020 (the
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implementation period completion day, or “IP completion day”’) — EU law generally continued to
apply in the UK.

Following such negotiations, on 24 December 2020 the UK and the EU concluded a free trade
agreement known as the ‘UK-EU Trade and Cooperation Agreement’ (the “TCA”), which has been
approved by the European Parliament on 27 April 2021 and entered into force on 1 May 2021. The
TCA, which entered into force (initially on a temporary basis) on IP completion day, is principally a
free trade agreement in goods. It does not address in any detail a number of areas, including the cross-
border provision of services, the ‘passporting’ of UK and EU financial institutions, the determination
of equivalence between EU and UK financial market regulations, or judicial cooperation in civil
matters. In addition, on IP completion day, as a unilateral matter and in order to mitigate the effect of
the EU Treaties no longer applying to the UK, the UK incorporated into its law (i.e. grandfathered)
the majority of EU law as it stood at IP completion day (“EU retained law”).

Notwithstanding the conclusion of the Withdrawal Agreement and the TCA by the EU and the UK,
and the implementation by the UK of EU retained law, there remain significant uncertainties with
regard to the political and economic outlook of the UK and the EU and there are likely to be changes
in the legal rights and obligations of commercial parties across all industries, particularly in the
services sector (including financial services) following the UK's exit from the EU.

There is a risk that other EU Member States could hold referenda as to their membership of, and
ultimately leave, the EU, as did the UK, and that one or more EU Member States that adopted the
Euro as their national currency might decide, in the long term, to adopt an alternative currency, or that
there is a prolonged period of uncertainty connected to these eventualities. These risks if they
materialised could have a significant negative impact on global economic conditions and the stability
of the international financial markets. This could include further volatility in equity markets, in the
value of sterling and/or the Euro and in financial markets generally, a reduction in global market
liquidity with a potential negative impact on asset prices, operating results and capital including as
may impact the financial position of the Issuer and/or the BPS Group and the market value and/or
liquidity of the Notes in the secondary market.

In addition to the above, and in consideration of the fact that at the date of this Base Prospectus there
is no legal procedure or practice aimed at facilitating the exit of a Member State from the Eurozone,
the consequences of these decisions are exacerbated by the uncertainty regarding the methods by
which a Member State could manage its current assets and liabilities denominated in Euros and the
exchange rate between the newly adopted currency and the Euro. A collapse of the Eurozone could be
accompanied by the deterioration of the economic and financial situation of the European Union and
could have a significant negative effect on the entire financial sector, creating new difficulties in the
granting of sovereign loans and loans to businesses and involving considerable changes to financial
activities both at market and retail level. This situation could therefore have a significant negative
impact on the operating results and capital and financial position of the Issuer and/or the BPS Group
and/or the Issuer’s ability to pay interest and repay principal under the Notes, as well as the market
value and/or the liquidity of the Notes in the secondary market.

FACTORS WHICH ARE MATERIAL FOR THE PURPOSE OF ASSESSING THE MARKET
RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH NOTES ISSUED UNDER THE PROGRAMME

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes
A range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have features
which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of the most

common such features, distinguishing between factors which may occur in relation to any Notes and
those which might occur in relation to certain types of Exempt Notes:
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Risks applicable to all Notes

If the Issuer has the right to redeem any Notes at its option, this may limit the market value of the
Notes concerned and an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a manner
which achieves a similar effective return.

An optional redemption feature is likely to limit the market value of Notes. During any period when
the Issuer may elect to redeem Notes or there is an actual or perceived increase in the likelihood that
the Issuer will be able to redeem the Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise
substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any
redemption period.

The Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate
on the Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption
proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may
only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment
risk in light of other investments available at that time.

The Issuer may also, at its option, redeem Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes for tax
reasons in the circumstances described in, and in accordance with, Condition 5.2 (Redemption for tax
reasons) of the Terms and Conditions for the English Law Notes and Condition 5.2 (Redemption for
tax reasons) for the Italian Law Notes or in accordance with Condition 5.4 (Redemption at the option
of the Issuer (Issuer Call)) of the Terms and Conditions for the English Law Notes and Condition 5.4
(Redemption at the option of the Issuer (Issuer Call)) of the Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law
Notes or in the circumstances described and in accordance with Condition 5.6 (Issuer Call due to
MREL Disqualification Event) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and Condition
5.6 (Issuer Call due to MREL Disqualification Event) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law
Notes. Any redemption of the Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes is subject to compliance
by the Issuer with any conditions to such redemption prescribed by MREL Requirements at the
relevant time (including any requirements applicable to such redemption due to the qualification of
such Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes at such time as eligible liabilities available to meet
the MREL Requirements). See “Early redemption and purchase of the Senior Notes and Non-
Preferred Senior Notes may be restricted” below for further information.

In addition, the Issuer may also, at its option, redeem Subordinated Notes for tax reasons in the
circumstances described in, and in accordance with, Condition 5.2 (Redemption for tax reasons) of the
Terms and Conditions for the English Law Notes and Condition 5.2 (Redemption for tax reasons) of
the Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes or, if so specified in the form of Final Terms,
following a change of the regulatory classification of the relevant Subordinated Notes in the
circumstances described in, and in accordance with Condition 5.3 (Redemption for regulatory reasons
(Regulatory Call)) of the Terms and Conditions for the English Law Notes and Condition 5.3
(Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) of the Terms and Conditions for the Italian
Law Notes or in accordance with Condition 5.4 (Redemption at the option of the Issuer (Issuer Call))
of the Terms and Conditions for the English Law Notes and Condition 5.4 (Redemption at the option
of the Issuer (Issuer Call)) of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes. Any redemption of
the Subordinated Notes is subject to the prior approval of the relevant Competent Authority and in
accordance with applicable laws and regulations, including Articles 77 and 78 of the CRR. See
“Regulatory classification of the Notes” below for further information.

If the Notes include a feature to convert the interest basis from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or vice
versa, this may affect the secondary market and the market value of the Notes concerned.

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes are Notes which bear interest at a rate that converts from a fixed rate to a
floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. Such a feature to convert the interest basis, and any
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conversion of the interest basis, may affect the secondary market in, and the market value of, such
Notes as the change of interest basis may result in a lower interest return for Noteholders. Where the
Notes convert from a fixed rate to a floating rate, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be
less favourable than then prevailing spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same
reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates on other
Notes. Where the Notes convert from a floating rate to a fixed rate, the fixed rate may be lower than
then prevailing rates on those Notes and could affect the market value of an investment in the relevant
Notes.

Notes which are issued at a substantial discount or premium may experience price volatility in
response to changes in market interest rates.

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount (such as Zero Coupon Notes) or
premium to their principal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest
rates than do prices for more conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the
remaining term of such securities, the greater the price volatility as compared to more conventional
interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.

Waiver of set-off

As specified in Condition 2.1 (Status of the Senior Notes) of the Terms and Conditions for the English
Law Notes and Condition 2.1 (Status of the Senior Notes) of the Terms and Conditions for the Italian
Law Notes, each holder of a Senior Note unconditionally and irrevocably waives any right of set-off,
netting, counterclaim, abatement or other similar remedy which it might otherwise have under the
laws of any jurisdiction, in respect of such Senior Note.

As specified in Condition 2.2 (Status of the Non-Preferred Senior Notes) of the Terms and Conditions
for the English Law Notes and Condition 2.2 (Status of the Non-Preferred Senior Notes) of the Terms
and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes, each holder of a Non-Preferred Senior Note unconditionally
and irrevocably waives any right of set-off, netting, counterclaim, abatement or other similar remedy
which it might otherwise have under the laws of any jurisdiction, in respect of such Non-Preferred
Senior Note.

As specified in Condition 2.3 (Status of the Subordinated Notes) of the Terms and Conditions for the
English Law Notes and Condition 2.3 (Status of the Subordinated Notes) of the Terms and Conditions
for the Italian Law Notes each holder of a Subordinated Note unconditionally and irrevocably waives
any right of set-off, netting, counterclaim, abatement or other similar remedy which it might otherwise
have, under the laws of any jurisdiction, in respect of such Subordinated Note.

The Notes have limited Events of Default and remedies

The Events of Default in respect of the Notes, being events upon which the Trustee, in the case of
English Law Notes, (or, in certain circumstances, the Noteholders) may declare the Notes to be
immediately due and payable, are limited to circumstances in which the Issuer (i) is liquidated
(including when the Issuer becomes subject to Liquidazione Coatta Amministrativa as defined in the
Consolidated Banking Act) or (ii) is insolvent as set out in Condition 8.1 (Events of Default relating
to Senior Notes, Non-Preferred Senior Notes and Subordinated Notes) of the Terms and Conditions
for the English Law Notes and Condition 8.1 (Events of Default relating to Senior Notes, Non-
Preferred Senior Notes and Subordinated Notes) of the Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law
Notes. Accordingly, other than following the occurrence of an Event of Default, if the Issuer fails to
meet any of its obligations under the Notes, including without limitation the payment of any interest,
the Trustee, in the case of English Law Notes, (and the Noteholders) will not have the right of
acceleration in respect of any amount due under the Notes and the sole remedy available to
Noteholders for recovery of amounts owing in respect of any of the Notes will be the institution of
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proceedings to enforce the payment of any such amount. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Issuer
will not, by virtue of the institution of any such proceedings, be obliged to pay any sum or sums
sooner than the same would otherwise have been payable by it.

In the case of Notes which are issued as Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds, please
also see Risk Factor "In respect of any Notes issued with a specified use of proceeds, such as a
"Green Bond" or "Social Bond" or "Sustainability Bond", there can be no assurance that such use of
proceeds will be suitable for the investment criteria of an investor ".

The Notes may be subject to loss absorption or any application of the general bail-in tool

The BRRD contemplates that the Notes may be subject to non-viability loss absorption, in addition to
the application of the general bail-in tool.

For further information please see paragraph “Certain Regulatory Aspects Relating to the Issuer”
under the section entitled “The Issuer”.

Risks applicable to the Senior Notes and the Non-Preferred Senior Notes

The lIssuer’s obligations under Non-Preferred Senior Notes rank junior to unsecured and
unsubordinated preferred obligations of the Issuer

The Issuer’s obligations under Non-Preferred Notes Senior Notes will be unsecured, unsubordinated
and non-preferred obligations and will rank junior to Senior Notes, any other unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer which rank, or are expressed to rank by their terms, senior to
Non-Preferred Senior Notes and claims arising from the excluded liabilities within the meaning of
Article 72a(2) of the CRR. Although Non-Preferred Senior Notes may pay a higher rate of interest
than comparable Notes which rank senior to the Non-Preferred Senior Notes, there is a real risk that
an investor in Non-Preferred Senior Notes will lose all or some of his investment should the Issuer
become insolvent.

Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes could be subject to Issuer Call due to MREL
Disqualification Event

If at any time an MREL Disqualification Event occurs and is continuing in relation to any Series of
Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes, and the form of Final Terms for the Senior Notes or the
Non-Preferred Senior Notes of such Series specify that Issuer Call due to MREL Disqualification
Event is applicable, the Issuer may (subject to the provisions of Condition 5.13 (Conditions to Early
Redemption and Purchase of Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes) of the Terms and
Conditions for the English Law Notes and Condition 5.13 (Conditions to Early Redemption and
Purchase of Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes) of the Terms and Conditions for the
Italian Law Notes, elect to redeem all, but not some only, of the Senior Notes or the Non-Preferred
Senior Notes of such Series. An MREL Disqualification Event means that, at any time, all or part of
the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of such Series of Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior
Notes is or will be excluded fully or partially from the eligible liabilities available to meet the MREL
Requirements, subject to as set out in Condition 5.6 (Issuer Call due to MREL Disqualification Event)
of the Terms and Conditions for the English Law Notes and Condition 5.6 (Issuer Call due to MREL
Disqualification Event) of the Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes. The applicability of
the minimum requirements for eligible liabilities is subject to the application, in the EU and in Italy,
of the new EU regulatory framework under the BRRD II, SRM II Regulation, CRD V Directive and
CRR II (the EU Banking Framework).

If the Senior Notes or the or Non-Preferred Senior Notes are to be so redeemed, there can be no
assurance that Noteholders will be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest
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rate as high as the interest rate on the Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes being redeemed.
Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that
time. In addition, an MREL Disqualification Event could result in a decrease in the market price of
the Notes.

See also “If the Issuer has the right to redeem any Notes at its option, this may limit the market value
of the Notes concerned and an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a
manner which achieves a similar effective return” above.

Early redemption and purchase of the Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes may be
restricted

Any early redemption or purchase of Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes is subject to
compliance by the Issuer with any conditions to such redemption or repurchase prescribed by MREL
Requirements at the relevant time, including any requirements applicable to such redemption or
repurchase due to the qualification of such Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes at such time
as eligible liabilities available to meet the MREL Requirements.

In addition, under the New EU Banking Framework, the early redemption or purchase of Senior Notes
and Non-Preferred Senior Notes which qualify as eligible liabilities available to meet MREL
Requirements is subject to the prior approval of the Competent Authority where applicable from time
to time under the applicable laws and regulations. The New EU Banking Framework states that the
Competent Authority would approve an early redemption of the Senior Notes and Non-Preferred
Senior Notes where any of the following conditions is met:

(a) on or before such early redemption or purchase of the Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior
Notes, the Issuer replaces the Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes with own funds
instruments or eligible liabilities of an equal or higher quality on terms that are sustainable for
the income capacity of the Issuer;

(b)  the Issuer has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Competent Authority that its Own Funds
and eligible liabilities would, following such redemption or purchase, exceed the requirements
for own funds and eligible liabilities set out in the CRD V Directive or the BRRD 1I (or, in
either case, any relevant provisions of Italian law implementing the CRD V Directive or, as
appropriate, the BRRD II) or the CRR II by a margin that the Competent Authority considers
necessary; or

(¢c) the Issuer has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Competent Authority that the partial or
full replacement of the eligible liabilities with own funds instruments is necessary to ensure
compliance with the own funds requirements laid down in the CRR II and in the CRD V
Directive for continuing authorisation.

The Competent Authority shall consult with the Relevant Resolution Authority before granting that
permission, as requested pursuant to the New EU Banking Framework.

Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes which are English Law Notes may be subject to
substitution and modification without Noteholders’ consent Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior
Notes which are Italian Law Notes may be subject to modification without Noteholders' consent

If Substitution or Variation (in respect of the English Law Notes) or Variation (in respect of the Italian
Law Notes) is specified as being applicable in the circumstances described in (i) and/or (ii) below in
the relevant Final Terms for any Series of Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes then (i) at any
time an MREL Disqualification Event occurs and/or as applicable (ii) in order to ensure the
effectiveness and enforceability of Condition 18 (Statutory Loss Absorption Powers) of the Terms and
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Conditions for the English Law Notes and Condition 16 (Statutory Loss Absorption Powers) of the
Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes, the Issuer may, subject to giving any notice required
to be given to, and receiving any consent required from, the Competent Authority and/or as
appropriate the Relevant Resolution Authority (without any requirement for the consent or approval
of the holders of the Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes of that Series) and having given not
less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Trustee (in respect of the English Law Notes) and to
the Paying Agents (in respect of the Italian Law Notes) and the holders of the Notes of that Series (or
such other notice periods as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms), at any time either
substitute all (but not some only) of such Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes which are
English Law Notes, or vary the terms of Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes which are either
English Law Notes or Italian Law Notes so that they remain or, as appropriate, become, Qualifying
Senior Notes or Qualifying Non-Preferred Senior Notes, as applicable, provided that such variation or
(for the English Law Notes only) substitution does not itself give rise to any right of the Issuer to
redeem the varied or (for the English Law Notes only) substituted securities.

Qualifying Senior Notes or Qualifying Non-Preferred Senior Notes, as applicable, are securities
issued by the Issuer that, other than in respect of the effectiveness and enforceability of Condition 18
(Statutory Loss Absorption Powers) of the Terms and Conditions for the English Law Notes and
Condition 16 (Statutory Loss Absorption Powers) of the Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law
Notes, have terms not materially less favourable to the Noteholders (as reasonably determined by the
Issuer) than the terms of the relevant Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes, as applicable.
However, no assurance can be given as to whether any of these changes (including, without
limitation, any changes to governing law and/or jurisdiction) will negatively affect any particular
Noteholder. In addition, the tax and stamp duty consequences of holding such substituted or varied
(for either English Law Notes or Italian Law Notes) notes could be different for some categories of
Noteholders from the tax and stamp duty consequences for them of holding the notes prior to such
substitution or variation (for either English Law Notes or Italian Law Notes).

Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes may be subject to loss absorption on any application of
the general bail-in-tool

Investors should be aware that Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes may be subject to
write-down or conversion into equity capital instruments on any application of the general bail-in
tool, which may result in such holders losing some or all of their investment. The exercise of the
general bail-in tool, or any other power under the BRRD or any suggestion or perceived
suggestion of such exercise could, therefore, materially adversely affect the rights of holders
Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes, the price or value of their investment in any such
Notes and/or the ability of the Issuer to satisfy its obligations under such Notes. Any shares
issued to holders of Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior Notes upon any such conversion into
equity capital instruments may be of little value at the time of conversion and may also be subject
to any future application of the BRRD.

Risks applicable to the Subordinated Notes

An investor in Subordinated Notes assumes an enhanced risk of loss in the event of insolvency of

BPS

BPS’ obligations under Subordinated Notes will be unsecured and subordinated and will rank
junior in priority of payment to Senior Liabilities. Senior Liabilities means any direct,
unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness or payment obligations (including
Non-Preferred Senior Notes or indebtedness or obligations which are subordinated but to a lesser
degree than the obligations under the relevant Subordinated Notes) of BPS for money borrowed
or raised or guaranteed by BPS and any indebtedness or mandatory payment obligations
preferred by the laws of the Republic of Italy. Although Subordinated Notes may pay a higher
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rate of interest than comparable Notes which are not subordinated (including Non-Preferred
Senior Notes), there may be a higher risk that an investor in Subordinated Notes will lose all or
some of his investment should BPS become insolvent.

In no event will holders of Subordinated Notes be able to accelerate the obligations of the Issuer
under Subordinated Notes held by them; such holders will have claims only for amounts then due
and payable on their Subordinated Notes. After BPS has fully paid all deferred interest on any
issue of Subordinated Notes and if that issue of Subordinated Notes remains outstanding, future
interest payments on that issue of Subordinated Notes will be subject to further deferral.

Subordinated Notes may be subject to loss absorption on any application of the general bail-in-
tool or at the point of non-viability of the Issuer and the BPS Group or may be the subject to the
burden sharing requirements of the EU State aid framework and the BRRD

Investors should be aware that, in addition to the general bail-in tools, the BRRD contemplates
that Subordinated Notes may be subject to a write-down or conversion into common shares at the
point of non-viability of the Issuer and the BPS Group and before any other resolution action is
taken, with losses absorbed in accordance with priority of claims under normal insolvency
proceedings should the Bank of Italy, the SRB or other authority or authorities having prudential
oversight of BPS at the relevant time exercise the power to do so (Non-Viability Loss
Absorption). The BRRD is intended to enable a range of actions to be taken in relation to credit
institutions and investment firms considered to be at risk of failing.

Furthermore, the BRRD provides for a Member State as a last resort, after having assessed and
applied the resolution tools (including the general bail-in tool) to the maximum extent practicable
whilst maintaining financial stability, to be able to provide extraordinary public financial support
through additional financial stabilisation tools. These consist of the public equity support and
temporary public ownership tools. Any such extraordinary financial support must be provided in
accordance with the burden sharing requirements of the EU state aid framework and the BRRD.
As an exemption from these principles, the BRRD allows for three kinds of extraordinary public
support to be provided to a solvent institution without triggering resolution: 1) a State guarantee
to back liquidity facilities provided by central banks according to the central banks’ conditions;
2) a State guarantee of newly issued liabilities; or 3) an injection of own funds in the form of
precautionary recapitalisation. In the case of precautionary recapitalization EU state aid rules
require that shareholders and junior bond holders (such as holders of the Subordinated Notes)
contribute to the costs of restructuring.

As a result, Subordinated Notes may be subject to a partial or full write-down or conversion to
Common Equity Tier 1 instruments of the Issuer or one of the BPS Group’s entities or another
institution. Accordingly, trading behaviour may also be affected by the threat that Non-Viability
Loss Absorption (or the general bail-in tool) may be applied to Subordinated Notes or the burden
sharing requirements of the EU state aid framework and the BRRD may be applied and, as a
result, Subordinated Notes are not necessarily expected to follow the trading behaviour
associated with other types of securities. Noteholders should consider the risk that they may lose
all of their investment, including the principal amount plus any accrued interest if the Non-
Viability Loss Absorption (or the general bail-in tool) is applied to the Subordinated Notes or the
burden sharing requirements of the EU state aid framework and the BRRD are applied or that
such Subordinated Notes may be converted into ordinary shares which ordinary shares may be of
little value at the time of conversion.

In addition, on 20 April 2021, the Italian Parliament approved delegation law (Legge di
delegazione europea) 2019-2020 (the BRRD II Delegation Law), which provides for the
implementation of the BRRD II in Italy and sets forth, under Article 11, the principles for such
implementation. However, the BRRD II Delegation Law does not contain specific provisions
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transposing Article 48(7) of BRRD II into Italian law, and it is therefore unclear how this
provision will be implemented in Italy. According to Article 48(7) of BRRD II, a claim resulting
from an own funds item shall rank lower than any claim that does not result from an Own Funds
item and if an instrument is only partly recognised as an own funds item, the whole instrument
shall be treated as a claim resulting from an own funds item. In other jurisdictions in the EU,
such transposition requires certain instruments which are fully disqualified as own funds items to
be treated with an improved ranking compared to any claim that results from an own funds item
(such as Subordinated Notes). Once Article 48(7) of BRRD II is implemented in Italy, if
Subordinated Notes of the Issuer were to be disqualified entirely as own funds items in the
future, their ranking could improve compared to Subordinated Notes which at the relevant time
qualify as own funds items (in whole or in part) and, in the event of a liquidation or bankruptcy
of the Issuer, the Issuer would, inter alia, be required to pay subordinated creditors of the Issuer,
whose claims arise from liabilities that no longer fully or partially are recognized as an own
funds instrument in full before it can make any payments on the Subordinated Notes.
Furthermore, if the Subordinated Notes are fully disqualified as own funds items, such Notes
could not be subject to a write-down or conversion into common shares at the point of non-
viability even though they would continue to be subject to bail-in, and, in the event the Issuer
were to receive extraordinary financial support in accordance with the EU state aid framework
and the BRRD, the burden sharing requirements of such legislation.

Regulatory classification of the Notes

The intention of BPS is for Subordinated Notes to qualify on issue as "Tier 2 capital" for
regulatory capital purposes of both the Issuer and the BPS Group. Current regulatory practice by
the Bank of Italy (acting as lead regulator) does not require (or customarily provide) a
confirmation prior to the issuance of Subordinated Notes that the Notes will be treated as such.

Although it is BPS’ expectation that the Subordinated Notes qualify on issue as "Tier 2 capital"
of both the Issuer and the BPS Group, there can be no representation that this is or will remain
the case during the life of such Notes. If there is a change in the regulatory classification of the
Subordinated Notes that would be likely to result in their exclusion from "Tier 2 capital" at
individual or consolidated basis in whole or in part, provided that, in case of exclusion in part, such
exclusion is not as a result of amortisation or any limits on the amount of “Tier 2” capital applicable
to the Issuer and, in respect of any redemption of the relevant Subordinated Notes proposed to be
made prior to the fifth anniversary of the Issue Date, both of the following conditions are met: (i)
the Competent Authority (as defined in Condition 5.14 (Conditions to Early Redemption and
Purchase of Subordinated Notes) of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and
Condition 5.14 (Conditions to Early Redemption and Purchase of Subordinated Notes) of the
Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes considers such a change to be reasonably certain
and (i1) BPS demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Competent Authority that the change in the
regulatory classification of the Subordinated Notes was not reasonably foreseeable by BPS as at
the date of the issue of the relevant Subordinated Notes, BPS will (if so specified in the form of
Final Terms) have the right to redeem the Subordinated Notes in accordance with Condition 5.3
(Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) of the Terms and Conditions for the English
Law Notes and Condition 5.3 (Redemption for regulatory reasons (Regulatory Call)) of the Terms
and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes, subject to, inter alia, the prior approval of the relevant
Competent Authority and in accordance with applicable laws and regulations, including Articles
77 and 78 of the CRR. There can be no assurance that holders of such Subordinated Notes will be
able to reinvest the amounts received upon redemption at a rate that will provide the same rate of
return as their investments in the relevant Notes, as the case may be. In addition, the occurrence
of such event could result in a decrease in the market price of the Notes.

Any redemption or purchase of Senior Notes and Non-Preferred Senior Notes in accordance with
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Conditions 5.2, 5.4, 5.6 or 5.9 of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes and
Conditions 5.2, 5.4, 5.6 or 5.9 of the Terms and Conditions of the Italian Law Notes is subject to
compliance by the Issuer with any conditions to such redemption or repurchase prescribed by the
MREL Requirements at the relevant time (including any requirements applicable to such
redemption or repurchase due to the qualification of such Senior Notes or Non-Preferred Senior
Notes at such time as eligible liabilities available to meet the MREL Requirements).

Subordinated Notes which are English Law Notes may be subject to substitution and modification
without Noteholder consent Subordinated Notes which are Italian Law Notes may be subject to
modification without Noteholders' consent

If Substitution or Variation (in respect of the English Law Notes) or Variation (in respect of the Italian
Law Notes) is specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, in order to ensure the
effectiveness and enforceability of Condition 18 (Statutory Loss Absorption Powers) of the Terms and
Conditions for the English Law Notes for any Series of Subordinated Notes which are English Law
Notes and Condition 16 (Statutory Loss Absorption Powers) of the Terms and Conditions for the
Italian Law Notes for any Series of Subordinated Notes which are Italian Law Notes, then the Issuer
may, subject to giving any notice required to be given to, and receiving any consent required from, the
Competent Authority and/or as appropriate the Relevant Resolution Authority (without any
requirement for the consent or approval of the holders of the Subordinated Notes of that Series), and
having given not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Trustee (in respect of the English
Law Notes) and the Paying Agents (in respect of the Italian Law Notes) and the holders of the Notes
of that Series (or such other notice periods as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms), at any
time either substitute all (but not some only) of a Series of Subordinated Notes which are English Law
Notes, or vary the terms of Subordinated Notes which are either English Law Notes or Italian Law
Notes so that they remain or, as appropriate, become, Qualifying Subordinated Notes, as applicable,
provided that such variation or (for the English Law Notes only) substitution does not itself give rise
to any right of the Issuer to redeem the varied or (for the English Law Notes only) substituted
securities.

Qualifying Subordinated Notes are securities issued by the relevant Issuer that, other than in respect
of the effectiveness and enforceability of Condition 18 (Statutory Loss Absorption Powers) of the
Terms and Conditions for the English Law Notes and Condition 16 (Statutory Loss Absorption
Powers) of the Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes, have terms not materially less
favourable to the Noteholders (as reasonably determined by the Issuer) than the terms of the relevant
Subordinated Notes. However, no assurance can be given as to whether any of these changes
(including, without limitation, any changes to governing law and/or jurisdiction) will negatively affect
any particular Noteholder. In addition, the tax and stamp duty consequences of holding such
substituted or varied (for either English Law Notes or Italian Law Notes) notes could be different for
some categories of Noteholders from the tax and stamp duty consequences for them of holding the
notes prior to such substitution or variation (for either English Law Notes or Italian Law Notes).

The interest rate on Reset Notes will reset on each Reset Date, which can be expected to affect the
interest payment on an investment in Reset Notes and could affect the market value of the Reset
Notes

Reset Notes will initially bear interest at the Initial Rate of Interest from and including the Interest
Commencement Date up to but excluding the First Reset Date. On the First Reset Date, the Second
Reset Date (if applicable) and each Subsequent Reset Date (if any) thereafter, the interest rate will be
reset to the sum of the applicable Mid-Swap Rate and the First Margin or Subsequent Margin (as
applicable) as determined by the Calculation Agent on the relevant Reset Determination Date (each
such interest rate, a Subsequent Reset Rate of Interest). The Subsequent Reset Rate of Interest for
any Reset Period could be less than the Initial Rate of Interest or the Subsequent Reset Rate of Interest
for prior Reset Periods and could affect the market value of an investment in the Reset Notes.
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Risks applicable to certain types of Exempt Notes

There are particular risks associated with an investment in certain types of Exempt Notes, such as
Index Linked Notes and Dual Currency Notes. In particular, an investor might receive less interest
than expected or no interest in respect of such Notes and may lose some or all of the principal amount
invested by it.

The Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest determined by reference to an index or formula,
to changes in the prices of securities or commodities, to movements in currency exchange rates or
other factors (each, a Relevant Factor). In addition, the Issuer may issue Notes with principal or
interest payable in one or more currencies which may be different from the currency in which the
Notes are denominated. Potential investors should be aware that:

(1) the market price of such Notes may be volatile;
(i1) they may receive no interest;

(i)  payment of principal or interest may occur at a different time or in a different currency than
expected;

(iv) they may lose all or a substantial portion of their principal;

v) a Relevant Factor may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with
changes in interest rates, currencies or other indices;

(vi) if a Relevant Factor is applied to Notes in conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or
contains some other leverage factor, the effect of changes in the Relevant Factor on principal
or interest payable likely will be magnified; and

(vii)  the timing of changes in a Relevant Factor may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the
average level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the
Relevant Factor, the greater the effect on yield.

The historical experience of an index or other Relevant Factor should not be viewed as an indication
of the future performance of such Relevant Factor during the term of any Notes. Accordingly, each
potential investor should consult its own financial and legal advisers about the risk entailed by an
investment in any Notes linked to a Relevant Factor and the suitability of such Notes in light of its
particular circumstances.

Where Notes are issued on a partly paid basis, an investor who fails to pay any subsequent instalment
of the issue price could lose all of his investment.

The Issuer may issue Notes where the issue price is payable in more than one instalment. Any failure
by an investor to pay any subsequent instalment of the issue price in respect of his Notes could result
in such investor losing all of his investment.

Notes which are issued with variable interest rates or which are structured to include a multiplier or
other leverage factor are likely to have more volatile market values than more standard securities.

Notes with variable interest rates can be volatile investments. If they are structured to include
multipliers or other leverage factors, or caps or floors, or any combination of those features or other
similar related features, their market values may be even more volatile than those for securities that do
not include those features.
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Risks related to Notes generally
Set out below is a description of material risks relating to the Notes generally:

The conditions of the Notes contain provisions which may permit their modification without the
consent of all investors and confer significant discretions on the Trustee, in the case of English
Law Notes, which may be exercised without the consent of the Noteholders and without regard to
the individual interests of particular Noteholders.

The conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider and
vote upon matters affecting their interests generally, or to pass resolutions in writing through the use
of electronic consents. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including
Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting or, as the case may be, did not sign
the written resolution or give their consent electronically, and including those Noteholders who voted
in a manner contrary to the majority.

The conditions of the Notes also provide that the Trustee, in the case of English Law Notes, may,
without the consent of Noteholders and without regard to the interests of particular Noteholders, agree
to (i) any modification of, or to the waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of, any
of the provisions of the Notes or (ii) determine without the consent of the Noteholders that any Event
of Default or potential Event of Default shall not be treated as such or (iii) the substitution of another
company as principal debtor under any Notes in place of the Issuer, in the circumstances described in
Condition 13 (Meetings of Noteholders, Modification, Waiver and Substitution) of the Terms and
Conditions for the English Law Notes and Condition 13 (Meetings of Noteholders, Modification and
Waiver) of the Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes .

The value of the Notes could be adversely affected by a change in English law or administrative
practice.

Except for Condition 2.2, Condition 2.3 and Condition 18, the Terms and Conditions for the English
Law Notes of the Notes are based on English law in effect as at the date of this Base Prospectus.

The Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes are based on Italian law in effect as at the date of
this Base Prospectus.

No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law
or administrative practice after the date of this Base Prospectus and any such change could materially
adversely impact the value of any Notes affected by it.

Investors who hold less than the minimum Specified Denomination may be unable to sell their
Notes and may be adversely affected if definitive Notes are subsequently required to be issued.

In relation to any issue of Notes issued in denominations representing the aggregate of (i) a minimum
Specified Denomination of €100,000 (or €250,000 in the case of Non-Preferred Senior Notes), plus
(i1) integral multiples of another smaller amount, Notes may be traded in amounts which, although
greater than €100,000 (or €250,000 in the case of Non-Preferred Senior Notes) (or its equivalent in
another currency), are not integral multiples of €100,000 (or €250,000 in the case of Non-Preferred
Senior Notes) (or its equivalent) plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount.
In such a case a holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than
the minimum Specified Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system would not be
able to sell the remainder of such holding without first purchasing a principal amount of Notes at or in
excess of the minimum Specified Denomination such that its holding amounts to a Specified
Denomination. Further, a holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which is
less than the minimum Specified Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system at the
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relevant time may not receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding (should definitive Notes be
printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes at or in excess of the minimum
Specified Denomination such that its holding amounts to a Specified Denomination.

If such Notes in definitive form are issued, holders should be aware that definitive Notes which have a
denomination that is not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid
and difficult to trade.

In respect of any Notes issued with a specific use of proceeds, such as a ‘Green Bond’ or ‘Social
Bond’ or ‘Sustainability Bond’, there can be no assurance that such use of proceeds will be
suitable for the investment criteria of an investor

If so specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer may issue Notes under the Programme described
as "green bonds" (Green Bonds), "social bonds" (Social Bonds) and/or "sustainability bonds"
(Sustainability Bonds) in accordance with the principles set out by the International Capital Market
Association (ICMA) (respectively, the Green Bond Principles (GBP), the Social Bond Principles
(SBP) and the Sustainability Bond Guidelines (SBG)) for the purposes of financing and/or
refinancing, in whole or in part, respectively Eligible Green Projects, Eligible Social Projects and/or
Eligible Sustainable Projects (each of such terms as defined in the "Use of Proceeds" section).

In such a case, prospective investors should have regard to the information in the applicable Final
Terms regarding such use of proceeds and must determine for themselves the relevance of such
information for the purpose of any investment in such Notes together with any other investigation
such investors deem necessary, and must assess the suitability of that investment in light of their own
circumstances. In particular no assurance is given by the Issuer or the Dealers that the use of such
proceeds for the funding of any Eligible Green Project, Eligible Social Project or Eligible Sustainable
Project, as the case may be, will satisfy, whether in whole or in part, any present or future investor
expectations or requirements as regards any investment criteria or guidelines with which such investor
or its investments are required to comply, whether by any present or future applicable law or
regulations (including, amongst others, Regulation (EU) 2020/852 on the establishment of a
framework to facilitate sustainable investment (the EU Taxonomy Regulation) and the Sustainable
Finance Taxonomy Regulation Delegated Acts for climate change adaptation and mitigation
objectives (the EU Taxonomy Regulation Delegated Acts) approved in principle by the EU
Commission on 21 April 2021 and formally adopted on 4 June 2021 for scrutiny by the co-legislators
(the EU Taxonomy Regulation and the EU Taxonomy Regulation Delegated Acts, jointly, the EU
Taxonomy Framework) or by its own by-laws or other governing rules or investment portfolio
mandates (in particular with regard to any direct or indirect environmental, sustainability or social
impact of any projects or uses, the subject of or related to, the relevant Eligible Green Projects,
Eligible Social Projects or Eligible Sustainable Projects). With respect to the remaining environmental
objectives, a second delegated act is expected to be published in 2022. On 6 July 2021 the European
Commission adopted the delegated act supplementing Article 8 of the EU Taxonomy Regulation for
scrutiny by co-legislators. This delegated act specifies the content, methodology and presentation of
information to be disclosed by financial and non-financial undertakings concerning the proportion of
environmentally sustainable economic activities in their business, investments or lending activities.

On 18 June 2019, the Commission Technical Expert Group on sustainable finance published its final
report on a future European standard for green bonds (the “EU Green Bond Standard” ). In the
context of the public consultation on the renewed sustainable finance strategy, the European
Commission launched a targeted consultation on the establishment of an EU Green Bond Standard,
that builds and consults on the work of the Commission Technical Expert Group, and has run between
12 June and 2 October 2020. On 19 October 2020, the European Commission published the
Commission Work Programme 2021, in which expressed the intention to deliver a legislative proposal
by the end of the second quarter of 2021. On 6 July 2021, the European Commission officially
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adopted a legislative proposal for a EU Green Bond Standard setting out four main requirements: (i)
allocation of the funds raised by the green bond should be made in compliance with the EU
Taxonomy (as defined below); (ii) full transparency on the allocation of the green bond proceeds; (iii)
monitoring and compliance activities to be carried out by an external reviewer; and (iv) registration of
external reviewers with the ESMA and subject to its supervision.

Furthermore, it should be noted that there is currently no clearly established definition (legal,
regulatory or otherwise) of, nor market consensus as to what constitutes or may be classified as, a
"green", "social" or "sustainable" or equivalently-labelled project or as to what precise attributes are
required for a particular project to be defined as "green" or "social" or "sustainable" or such other
equivalent label. The EU Taxonomy Framework is nevertheless subject to further developments. Even
if a definition or market consensus as to what constitutes, a “green” or ‘“sustainable” or an
equivalently-labelled project or as to what precise attributes are required for a particular project to be
defined as “green” or “sustainable” or such other equivalent label, should develop or be established,
no assurance is or can be given to investors that any projects or uses the subject of, or related to, any
Eligible Green Projects, Eligible Social Projects or Eligible Sustainable Projects will meet any or all
investor expectations regarding such "green", "social" or "sustainable" or other equivalently-labelled
performance objectives (including those set out under the EU Taxonomy Framework) or that any
adverse green, social, sustainable and/or other impacts will not occur during the implementation of
any projects or uses the subject of, or related to, any Eligible Green Projects, Eligible Social Projects
and/or Eligible Sustainable Projects, as the case may be, towards which proceeds of the Notes are to
be applied. Moreover, in light of the continuing development of legal, regulatory and market
conventions in the green, sustainable and positive social impact markets, there is a risk that the legal
frameworks and/or definitions may (or may not) be modified to adapt any update that may be made to
the GBP and/or the SBP and/or the SBG and/or the EU Taxonomy Framework. Any such changes
could have an adverse effect on the liquidity and value of and return on any such Green Bond, Social
Bond or Sustainability Bond.

No assurance or representation is given as to the suitability or reliability for any purpose whatsoever
of any opinion or certification of any third party (whether or not solicited by the Issuer) which may or
may not be made available in connection with the issue of any Green Bond, Social Bond or
Sustainability Bond and in particular with any Eligible Green Projects, Eligible Social Projects or
Eligible Sustainable Projects to fulfil any environmental, sustainability, social and/or other criteria.
For the avoidance of doubt, any such opinion or certification is not, nor shall be deemed to be,
incorporated in and/or form part of this Base Prospectus. Any such opinion or certification is not, nor
should be deemed to be, a recommendation by the Issuer, the Dealers or any other person to buy, sell
or hold any such Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds. Any such opinion or
certification is only current as of the date that opinion was initially issued. Prospective investors must
determine for themselves the relevance of any such opinion or certification and/or the information
contained therein and/or the provider of such opinion or certification for the purpose of any
investment in such Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds. Currently, the providers of
such opinions and certifications are not subject to any specific regulatory or other regime or oversight.

In the event that any such Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds are listed or admitted to
trading on any dedicated "green", "social", "sustainable" or other equivalently-labelled segment of any
stock exchange or securities market (whether or not regulated), no representation or assurance is given
by the Issuer, the Dealers or any other person that such listing or admission satisfies, whether in whole
or in part, any present or future investor expectations or requirements as regards any investment
criteria or guidelines with which such investor or its investments are required to comply, whether by
any present or future applicable law or regulations or by its own by-laws or other governing rules or
investment portfolio mandates, in particular with regard to any direct or indirect environmental,
sustainability or social impact of any projects or uses, the subject of or related to, any Eligible Green
Projects, Eligible Social Projects or Eligible Sustainable Projects (as the case may be). Furthermore, it
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should be noted that the criteria for any such listings or admission to trading may vary from one stock
exchange or securities market to another. Nor is any representation or assurance given or made by the
Issuer, the Dealers or any other person that any such listing or admission to trading will be obtained in
respect of any such Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds or, if obtained, that any such
listing or admission to trading will be maintained during the life of the Green Bonds, Social Bonds or
Sustainability Bonds (as the case may be).

While it is the intention of the Issuer to apply an amount equivalent to the proceeds of any Green
Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds in, or substantially in, the manner described in the
applicable Final Terms, there can be no assurance that the relevant project(s) or use(s) the subject of,
or related to, any Eligible Green Projects, Eligible Social Projects or Eligible Sustainable Projects
(either resulting from the original application of the proceeds of the Notes or a subsequent reallocation
of such proceeds), as the case may be, will be capable of being implemented in or substantially in
such manner and/or in accordance with any timing schedule and that accordingly the proceeds of the
relevant Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds will be totally or partially disbursed for
the specified Eligible Green Projects, Eligible Social Projects or Eligible Sustainable Projects. Nor
can there be any assurance that (i) such Eligible Green Projects, Eligible Social Projects or Eligible
Sustainable Projects will be completed within any specified period or at all, (ii) with the results or
outcome as originally expected or anticipated by the Issuer or (iii) the originally designated green
project or social project or sustainable project (or any project(s) resulting from any subsequent
reallocation of some or all of the proceeds of the relevant Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability
Bonds) will not be the potentially or actual disqualified as such.

Any such event or failure by the Issuer (including to comply with its reporting obligations in relation
to Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds), any actual or potential maturity mismatch
between the green, social or sustainable asset(s) towards which proceeds of the Notes may have been
applied and the relevant Notes or if any other risk(s) set out or contemplated by this risk factor with
respect to Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds are realised, such occurrence will not,
with respect to any Notes (including for the avoidance of doubt, any Senior Notes, Non-Preferred
Senior Notes and Subordinated Notes), (i) give rise to any claim of a Noteholder against the Issuer;
(i1) constitute an Event of Default under the Notes; (iii) lead to an obligation of the Issuer to redeem
such Notes or be a relevant factor for the Issuer in determining whether or not to exercise any optional
redemption rights in respect of any Notes; (iv) affect the qualification of such Notes as Senior Notes,
Non-Preferred Senior Notes, Subordinated Notes, or as eligible liabilities instruments or impact any of
the features of such Notes, including (without limitation, as applicable) features relating to ranking,
permanence, loss absorption and/or flexibility of payments (as applicable); or (v) prevent the
applicability of the General Bail-In Tool (or any other provision of the Regulatory Capital
Requirements). Neither the proceeds of any Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds nor
any amount equal to such proceeds or asset financed with such proceeds will be segregated by the
Issuer from its capital and other assets. For the avoidance of doubt, payments of principal and interest
and the operation of any other features (as the case may be) on the relevant Green Bonds, Social
Bonds or Sustainability Bonds shall not depend on the performance of the relevant Eligible Green
Project, Eligible Social Project or Eligible Sustainable Project (as the case may be) nor have any
preferred or any other right against the green, social or sustainable assets towards which proceeds of
the relevant Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds are to be applied.

Any such event or failure to apply the proceeds of any issue of Green Bonds, Social Bonds or
Sustainability Bonds for any Eligible Green Projects, Eligible Social Projects or Eligible Sustainable
Projects as aforesaid and/or withdrawal of any such opinion or certification or any such opinion or
certification attesting that the Issuer is not complying in whole or in part with any matters for which
such opinion or certification is opining or certifying on and/or any such Green Bonds, Social Bonds or
Sustainability Bonds no longer being listed or admitted to trading on any stock exchange or securities
market as aforesaid may have a material adverse effect on the value of such Green Bonds, Social
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Bonds or Sustainability Bonds and also potentially the value of any other Notes which are intended to
finance Eligible Green Projects, Eligible Social Projects or Eligible Sustainable Projects and/or result
in adverse consequences for certain investors with portfolio mandates to invest in securities to be used
for a particular purpose.

In addition, Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds may also qualify as own funds or
eligible liabilities. The fact that Notes which qualify as own funds or eligible liabilities (which may
include, for the avoidance of doubt, Senior Notes, Non-Preferred Senior Notes, and Subordinated
Notes) are also Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds shall not impact (i) any of the
features of such Notes, including (without limitation, as applicable) features relating to ranking,
permanence, loss absorption and/or flexibility of payments or enhance the performace of the relevant
Notes in any way, (ii) the availability of the Notes (or the proceeds thereof) to absorb all losses
(whether or not related to any green, social or sustainable assets towards which proceeds of the
relevant Notes may have been applied or, if relevant, reallocated) in accordance with their terms (if
applicable) or the Regulatory Capital Requirements, (iii) the relevant CRR eligibility criteria
applicable to the qualification of the relevant Notes as own funds or eligible liabilities (as appropriate)
or applicability of the relevant BRRD requirements for own funds and eligible liabilities or (iv) the
risks related to the qualification of such Notes as as own funds or eligible liabilities (as appropriate).
Among the risks applicable to the Issuer’s Notes, the Issuer’s Green Bonds, Social Bonds or
Sustainability Bonds may be subject to mandatory write-down or conversion to equity in the event a
resolution procedure is initiated in respect of the BPS Group (including the Issuer) and, with
respect to Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds qualifying as Tier 2 Capital, even
before the commencement of any such procedure if certain conditions are met, in which cases the
fact that such Notes are designated as Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds does
not provide their holders with any priority compared to other Notes, nor is their level of
subordination affected by such designation.

No-gross up on withholding tax

The Notes may be subject to withholding taxes in circumstances where the Issuer is not obliged to
make gross up payments and this would result in holders receiving less interest than expected and
could significantly adversely affect their return on the Notes.

Risk relating to the governing law of the Italian Law Notes

The Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes are governed by Italian law and Condition 15
(Governing Law and Submission to Jurisdiction) of the Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law
Notes provides that contractual and non-contractual obligations arising out or in connection with them
are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, Italian Law, pursuant to EU and Italian
private international law provisions as applicable from time to time. Article 59 of Law No. 218 of 31
May 1995 (the Italian Private International Law) provides that “other debt securities” (titoli di
credito) are governed by the law of the State in which the security was issued”. The Temporary
Global Notes or the Permanent Global Notes, whether issued in CGN or NGN form, as the case may
be, representing the Italian Law Notes are signed by the Issuer in the United Kingdom and are,
thereafter, delivered to Citibank, N.A., London Branch and Banque Internationale a Luxembourg,
société anonyme as initial Fiscal Agent and Paying Agent, being the entity in charge of, inter alia,
completing, authenticating and delivering the Temporary Global Note and Permanent Global Notes
and (if required) authenticating and delivering Definitive Notes.

The Issuer cannot foresee the effect of any potential misalignment between the laws applicable to the
Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes and the laws applicable to their transfer and
circulation for any prospective investors in the Italian Law Notes and any disputes which may arise in
relation to, inter alia, the transfer of ownership in the Italian Law Notes on the basis of the above-
mentioned provisions of Italian Private International Law and the relevant applicable European
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legislation.

The regulation and reform of “benchmarks” may adversely affect the value of Floating Rate Notes
or Reset Notes linked to or referencing such “benchmarks”

The Euro Interbank Offered Rate (EURIBOR) and other indices which are deemed to be
“benchmarks” are the subject of recent national and international regulatory guidance and proposals
for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective whilst others are still to be implemented.
These reforms may cause such benchmarks to perform differently than in the past, to disappear
entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such consequence could have a
material adverse effect on any Notes referencing such a benchmark, such as Floating Rate Notes and
Reset Notes.

Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 (the EU Benchmarks Regulation) applies, subject to certain transitional
provisions, to the provision of "benchmarks", the contribution of input data to a "benchmark" and the
use of a "benchmark" within the EU and it, among other things, (i) requires benchmark administrators
to be authorised or registered (or, if non-EU-based, to be subject to an equivalent regime or otherwise
recognised or endorsed) and (ii) prevent certain uses by EU supervised entities (such as the Issuer) of
"benchmarks" of administrators that are not authorised or registered (or, if non-EU based, not deemed
equivalent or recognised or endorsed). Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 as it forms part of domestic law by
virtue of the EUWA (the UK Benchmarks Regulation) among other things, applies to the provision
of benchmarks and the use of a benchmark in the UK. Similarly, it prohibits the use in the UK by UK
supervised entities of benchmarks of administrators that are not authorised by the FCA or registered
on the FCA register (or, if non-UK based, not deemed equivalent or recognised or endorsed).

The scope of the EU Benchmarks Regulation and the UK Benchmarks Regulation is wide and, in
addition to so-called "critical benchmark" indices such as EURIBOR, could also potentially apply to
many other interest rate indices, as well as equity, commodity and foreign exchange rate indices and
other indices (including "proprietary" indices or strategies) which are referenced in listed financial
instruments (including listed Notes), financial contracts and investment funds.

The EU Benchmarks Regulation and/or the UK Benchmarks Regulation, as applicable, could have a
material impact on any Notes linked to or referencing a rate or index deemed to be a benchmark,
including any Floating Rate Notes linked to or referencing EURIBOR or any Reset Notes referencing
the relevant swap rate for swap transactions in the Specified Currency (as specified in the relevant
Final Terms with respect to the relevant Reset Notes), in particular, if the methodology or other terms
of the benchmark are changed in order to comply with the requirements of the EU Benchmarks
Regulation and/or the UK Benchmarks Regulation, as applicable. Such changes could, among other
things, have the effect of reducing, increasing or otherwise affecting the volatility of the published
rate or level of the relevant benchmark.

Key international reforms of "benchmarks" also include IOSCO's proposed Principles for Financial
Market Benchmarks (July 2013) (the IOSCO Benchmark Principles).

The IOSCO Benchmark Principles aim to create an overarching framework of principles for
benchmarks to be used in financial markets, specifically covering governance and accountability, as
well as the quality and transparency of benchmark design and methodologies. A review published in
February 2015 on the status of the voluntary market adoption of the IOSCO Benchmark Principles
noted that, as the benchmarks industry is in a state of change, further steps may need to be taken by
IOSCO in the future, but that it is too early to determine what those steps should be. The review noted
that there has been a significant market reaction to the publication of the IOSCO Benchmark
Principles, and widespread efforts being made to implement the IOSCO Benchmark Principles by the
majority of administrators surveyed.
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More broadly, any of the international or national reforms, or the general increased regulatory
scrutiny of benchmarks, could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating
in the setting of a benchmark and complying with any such regulations or requirements. Such factors
may have (without limitation) the following effects on certain benchmarks: (i) discouraging market
participants from continuing to administer or participate in certain "benchmarks", (ii) triggering
changes in the rules or methodologies used in certain "benchmarks", and/or (iii) leading to the
discontinuance, unavailability or disappearance of certain "benchmarks".

Separately, the euro risk free-rate working group for the euro area has also published a set of guiding
principles and high level recommendations for fallback provisions in, amongst other things, new euro
denominated cash products (including bonds) referencing EURIBOR. The guiding principles indicate,
among other things, that continuing to reference EURIBOR in relevant contracts (without robust
fallback provisions) may increase the risk to the euro area financial system. On 11 May 2021, the euro
risk-free rate working group published its recommendations on EURIBOR fallback trigger events and
fallback rates.

Furthermore, in order to address systemic risk, on 2 February 2021 the Council of the European
Union approved the final text of the Regulation (EU) 2021/168 amending the Regulation (EU)
2016/1011 as regards the exemption of certain third-country spot foreign exchange benchmarks and
the designation of replacements for certain benchmarks in cessation, and amending Regulation (EU)
No 648/2012. The new framework delegates the Commission to designate a replacement for
benchmarks qualified as critical under the Regulation 2016/2011, where the cessation or wind-down
of such a benchmark might significantly disrupt the functioning of financial markets within the
European Union. In particular, the designation of a replacement for a benchmark should apply to any
contract and any financial instrument as defined in Directive 2014/65/EU that is subject to the law of
a Member State. In addition, with respect to supervised entities, Regulation (EU) 2021/168 extends
the transitional period for the use of third-country benchmarks until 2023 and the Commission may
further extend this period until 2025 by a delegated act to be passed before 15 July 2023. On 10
February 2021 the Council of the European Union adopted the Regulation (EU) 2021/168 that was
published in the Official Journal on 12 February 2021 and entered into force on the following day.

Such factors may have (without limitation) the following effects on certain benchmarks: (i)
discouraging market participants from continuing to administer or contribute to a benchmark, (ii)
triggering changes in the rules or methodologies used in the benchmarks, and/or (iii) leading to the
disappearance of the benchmark.

Any of the above changes or any other consequential changes as a result of international or national
reforms or other initiatives or investigations, could have a material adverse effect on the value of and
return on any such Notes linked to, referencing, or otherwise dependent (in whole or in part) upon, a
benchmark.

Investors should be aware that, if EURIBOR were discontinued or otherwise unavailable, the rate of
interest on Floating Rate Notes or Reset Notes which reference such EURIBOR will be determined
for the relevant period by the fall-back provisions applicable to such Notes. Depending on the manner
in which the relevant EURIBOR rate is to be determined under the Terms and Conditions for the
English Law Notes” or under the Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes, this may (i) if
ISDA Determination applies, be reliant upon the provision by reference banks of offered quotations
for the relevant EURIBOR rate which, depending on market circumstances, may not be available at
the relevant time or (ii) if Screen Rate Determination applies, result in the effective application of a
fixed rate based on the rate which applied in the previous period when the relevant EURIBOR was
available. Any of the foregoing could have an adverse effect on the value or liquidity of, and return
on, any Floating Rate Notes or Reset Notes which reference the relevant EURIBOR.

The “Terms and Conditions for the English Law Notes” and the “Terms and Conditions for the Italian
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Law Notes” provide for certain fallback arrangements in the event that a published benchmark
(including any page on which such benchmark may be published (or any successor service)) becomes
unavailable, including the possibility that the rate of interest could be set by reference to a Successor
Rate or an Alternative Rate determined by an Independent Adviser in consultation with the Issuer or
failing that, by the Issuer, and that such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate may be adjusted (if
required) in order to reduce or eliminate, to the extent reasonably practicable in the circumstances,
any economic prejudice or benefit (as applicable) to investors arising out of the replacement of the
relevant benchmark. In certain circumstances the ultimate fallback of interest for a particular Interest
Period or Reset Period (as applicable) may result in the rate of interest for the last preceding Interest
Period or Reset Period (as applicable) being used. This may result in the effective application of a
fixed rate for Floating Rate Notes or Reset Notes (as applicable) based on the rate which was last
observed on the Relevant Screen Page. In addition, due to the uncertainty concerning the availability
of Successor Rates and Alternative Rates and the involvement of an Independent Adviser, the relevant
fallback provisions may not operate as intended at the relevant time. If the Independent Adviser or, as
applicable, the Issuer determines that amendments to the “Terms and Conditions for the English Law
Notes” or the “Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes”, as the case may be, the Trust Deed
and the Agency Agreement for the English Law Notes and the Agency Agreement for the Italian Law
Notes are necessary to ensure the proper operation of any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and/or
Adjustment Spread or to comply with any applicable regulation or guidelines on the use of
benchmarks or other related document issued by the competent regulatory authority, then such
amendments shall be made without any requirement for the consent or approval of Noteholders, as
provided by Condition 3.4 (Benchmark Discontinuation) of the Terms and Conditions for the English
Law Notes and Condition 3.4 (Benchmark Discontinuation) of the Terms and Conditions for the
Italian Law Notes.

Any such consequences could have an adverse effect on the value of and return on any such Notes.
Moreover, any of the above matters or any other significant change to the setting or existence of any
relevant reference rate could affect the ability of the Issuer to meet its obligations under the Floating
Rate Notes or Reset Notes or could have a material adverse effect on the value or liquidity of, and the
amount payable under, the Floating Rate Notes or Reset Notes. Investors should consider these
matters with their own independent advisers when making their investment decision with respect to
any Floating Rate Notes or Reset Notes linked to or referencing a benchmark.

Risks related to the market generally

Set out below is a description of material market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk,
interest rate risk and credit risk:

An active secondary market in respect of the Notes may never be established or may be illiquid and
this would adversely affect the value at which an investor could sell his Notes.

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market
for the Notes does develop, it may not be very liquid and may be sensitive to changes in financial
markets. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that will provide
them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. This is
particularly the case should the Issuer be in financial distress, which may result in any sale of the
Notes having to be at a substantial discount to their principal amount or for Notes that are especially
sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or
strategies or have been structured to meet the investment requirements of limited categories of
investors. These types of Notes generally would have a more limited secondary market and more
price volatility than conventional debt securities.

If an investor holds Notes which are not denominated in the investor's home currency, he will be
exposed to movements in exchange rates adversely affecting the value of his holding. In addition,
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the imposition of exchange controls in relation to any Notes could result in an investor not
receiving payments on those Notes.

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents certain
risks relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated principally
in a currency or currency unit (the Investor's Currency) other than the Specified Currency. These
include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of
the Specified Currency or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with
jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in
the value of the Investor's Currency relative to the Specified Currency would decrease (1) the
Investor's Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (2) the Investor's Currency equivalent value of the
principal payable on the Notes and (3) the Investor's Currency equivalent market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls
that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate or the ability of the Issuer to make payments in
respect of the Notes. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no
interest or principal.

The value of Fixed Rate Notes may be adversely affected by movements in market interest rates.

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that if market interest rates subsequently increase
above the rate paid on the Fixed Rate Notes, this will adversely affect the value of the Fixed Rate
Notes.

Credit ratings assigned to the Issuer or any Notes may not reflect all the risks associated with an
investment in those Notes.

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to Issuer or the Notes. The
ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors
discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. The expected ratings of the
Notes are set out in the relevant Final Terms for each Tranche of Notes. Whether or not a rating in
relation to any Notes will be treated as having been issued or endorsed by a credit rating agency
established in the European Union or in the UK and registered under the CRA Regulation will be
disclosed in the relevant Final Terms.

Any rating agency may lower its rating or withdraw its rating if, in the sole judgment of the rating
agency, the credit quality of the Notes has declined or is in question. If any rating assigned to the
Notes is suspended, lowered or withdrawn for any reason, no person or entity is obliged to provide
any additional support or credit enhancement with respect to the Notes. As a result, the market value
of the Notes may reduce.

Any ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional
factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not
a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised, suspended or withdrawn by the
rating agency at any time.

In general, European regulated investors are restricted under the CRA Regulation from using credit
ratings for regulatory purposes in the EEA, unless such ratings are issued by a credit rating agency
established in the EEA and registered under the CRA Regulation (and such registration has not been
withdrawn or suspended, subject to transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances). Such
general restriction will also apply in the case of credit ratings issued by third country non-EEA credit
rating agencies, unless the relevant credit ratings are endorsed by an EEA-registered credit rating
agency or the relevant third country registered rating agency is certified in accordance with the CRA
Regulation (and such endorsement action or certification, as the case may be, has not been withdrawn
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or suspended, subject to transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances).

The list of registered and certified rating agencies published by the European Securities and Markets
Authority (ESMA) on its website in accordance with the CRA Regulation is not conclusive evidence
of the status of the relevant rating agency included in such list, as there may be delays between certain
supervisory measures being taken against a relevant rating agency and the publication of the updated
ESMA list.

Investors regulated in the UK are subject to similar restrictions under the UK CRA Regulation. As
such, UK regulated investors are required to use for UK regulatory purposes ratings issued by a credit
rating agency established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation. In the case of
ratings issued by third country non-UK credit rating agencies, third country credit ratings can either
be: (a) endorsed by a UK registered credit rating agency; or (b) issued by a third country credit rating
agency that is certified in accordance with the UK CRA Regulation. Note this is subject, in each case,
to (a) the relevant UK registration, certification or endorsement, as the case may be, not having been
withdrawn or suspended, and (b) transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances. In the
case of third country ratings, for a certain limited period of time, transitional relief accommodates
continued use for regulatory purposes in the UK, of existing pre-2021 ratings, provided the relevant
conditions are satisfied.

If the status of the rating agency rating the Notes changes for the purposes of the CRA Regulation or
the UK CRA Regulation, relevant regulated investors may no longer be able to use the rating for
regulatory purposes in the EEA or the UK, as applicable, and the Notes may have a different
regulatory treatment, which may impact the value of the Notes and their liquidity in the secondary
market. Certain information with respect to the credit rating agencies and ratings is set out on the
cover of this Base Prospectus.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following documents which have previously been published shall be incorporated by reference in,
and form part of, this Base Prospectus:

(a)

(b)

the English translation of the audited consolidated financial statements for the financial year
ended on 31 December 2020 of the Issuer including the information set out at the following
pages in particular:

Consolidated Balance Sheet Pages 418-419
Consolidated Income Statement Page 420
Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Page 421
Income

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity Pages 422-423
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement Pages 424-425
Notes to the Financial Statements Pages 427-598
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Pages 602-608 of
Statements 618!

The document is available at the following link:

https://istituzionale.popso.it/sites/default/files/documents/Bil.%20Definitivo%20BPS%20-
%20Es.%202020%20ING%20WEB.pdf

the English translation of the audited consolidated financial statements for the financial year
ended on 31 December 2019 of the Issuer including the information set out at the following
pages in particular:

Consolidated Balance Sheet Pages 392 - 393
Consolidated Income Statement Page 394
Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income Page 395
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity Pages 396 - 397
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement Pages 398 - 399
Notes to the Financial Statements Pages 401 - 569
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Pages 573 — 577 of
Statements 5932

The document is available at the following link:

https://istituzionale.popso.it/sites/default/files/documents/Bil. Definitivo BPS  Es. 2019 1
NG_WEB_searchable.pdf

! Please note that these pages refer to the PDF pages of the document.
2 Please note that these pages refer to the PDF pages of the document.
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https://istituzionale.popso.it/sites/default/files/documents/Bil. Definitivo BPS - Es. 2020 ING WEB.pdf
https://istituzionale.popso.it/sites/default/files/documents/Bil._Definitivo_BPS___Es._2019_ING_WEB_searchable.pdf

(©)

(e)

®

(2

the English translation of the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements
as at and for the six months ended on 30 June 2021 of the Issuer including the information set
out at the following pages in particular:

Information on Operations Pages 11-53
Consolidated Balance Sheet Pages 56-57
Consolidated Income Statement Page 58
Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income Page 59
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity Pages 60-61
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement Pages 62-63
Notes to the Financial Statements Pages 65-152
Report on the Review of the Condensed Consolidated Pages 154-156
Interim Financial Statements

Financial Statements of the Parent Company at 30 June Pages 157-161
2021

The document is available at the following link:

https://istituzionale.popso.it/sites/default/files/documents/Bil.%20Semestrale%20BPS%20-
%20Es.%202021 ING%5Bfinal%5D_0.pdf

Press release “Information on the evolution of the transformation process of Banca Popolare
Sondrio into a joint-stock company based on Law 24th of March 2015, no. 33”

Entire document
The document is available at the following link:

https://istituzionale.popso.it/sites/default/files/documents/Comunicato%20stampa%201-6-
2021_eng.pdf

Press release “Banca Popolare di Sondrio: the results of the 2021 ECB/SSM stress test
confirm the Group's capital strength both in the baseline and in the adverse scenario”

Entire document
The document is available at the following link:

https://istituzionale.popso.it/sites/default/files/documents/ITL_BPSO%40IM_073021 174631
_en.pdf

Press release “Forfeiture of a Board Member”
Entire document
The document is available at the following link:

https://istituzionale.popso.it/sites/default/files/documents/comunicatostampa05.10.2021_eng.
pdf
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https://istituzionale.popso.it/sites/default/files/documents/ITL_BPSO%40IM_073021_174631_en.pdf
https://istituzionale.popso.it/sites/default/files/documents/comunicatostampa05.10.2021_eng.pdf

Terms and Conditions for the English Law Notes and the Terms and Conditions for the Italian
Law Notes set out under the Base Prospectus approved on 31 July 2020

The following table shows, inter alia, the information that can be found in the above-mentioned
documents incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus.

Base prospectus approved on 31 July 2020
Terms and Conditions for the English Law Notes Pages 83 - 129

Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes and Annex 1 (Provisions for Pages 130 - 178
the Meetings of Noteholders)

The terms and conditions set out under the base prospectus approved on 31 July 2020 are available at
the following link:
https://istituzionale.popso.it/sites/default/files/files/EMTN_ Base Prospectus_ 2020 07 31%20%281

%29.pdf

The information contained in the documents that is not included in the cross-reference are either not
relevant for the investors or covered elsewhere in the Prospectus.

Following the publication of this Base Prospectus a supplement may be prepared by the Issuer and
approved by the CSSF in accordance with Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation. Statements
contained in any such supplement (or contained in any document incorporated by reference therein)
shall, to the extent applicable, be deemed to modify or supersede statements contained in this Base
Prospectus or in a document which is incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus. Any
statement so modified or superseded shall not, except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part
of this Base Prospectus.

Any websites save for those listed as documents incorporated by reference above, included in the
Base Prospectus are for information purposes only and do not form part of the Base Prospectus,
except where that information has been incorporated by reference into this Prospectus. Other than the
information incorporated by reference, the content of these websites has not been scrutinised or
approved by the competent authority.

The Issuer will, in the event of any significant new factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy
relating to information included in this Base Prospectus which is capable of affecting the assessment
of any Notes, prepare a supplement to this Base Prospectus or publish a new Base Prospectus for use
in connection with any subsequent issue of Notes.
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FORM OF THE NOTES

Any reference in this section to "Form of Final Terms" shall be deemed to include a reference to
"Applicable Pricing Supplement" where relevant.

Each Tranche of Notes will be in bearer form and will initially be issued in the form of a temporary
global note (a Temporary Global Note) or, if so specified in the form of Final Terms, a permanent
global note (a Permanent Global Note and, together with a Temporary Global Note, each a Global
Note) which, in either case, will:

(a) if the Global Notes are intended to be issued in new global note (NGN) form, as stated in the
form of Final Terms, be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a
common safekeeper (the Common Safekeeper) for Euroclear Bank SA/NV (Euroclear) and
Clearstream Banking S.A. (Clearstream, Luxembourg); and

(b) if the Global Notes are not intended to be issued in NGN Form, be delivered on or prior to the
original issue date of the Tranche to a common depositary (the Common Depositary) for
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Where the Global Notes issued in respect of any Tranche are in NGN form, the form of Final Terms
will also indicate whether such Global Notes are intended to be held in a manner which would allow
Eurosystem eligibility. Any indication that the Global Notes are to be so held does not necessarily
mean that the Notes of the relevant Tranche will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any times
during their life as such recognition depends upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria.
The Common Safekeeper for NGNs will either be Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or another
entity approved by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Whilst any Note is represented by a Temporary Global Note, payments of principal, interest (if any)
and any other amount payable in respect of the Notes due prior to the Exchange Date (as defined
below) will be made (against presentation of the Temporary Global Note if the Temporary Global
Note is not intended to be issued in NGN form) only to the extent that certification (in a form to be
provided) to the effect that the beneficial owners of interests in the Temporary Global Note are not
U.S. persons or persons who have purchased for resale to any U.S. person, as required by U.S.
Treasury regulations, has been received by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear
and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as applicable, has given a like certification (based on the
certifications it has received) to the Principal Paying Agent.

On and after the date (the Exchange Date) which is 40 days after a Temporary Global Note is issued,
interests in such Temporary Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge) upon a request as
described therein either for (i) interests in a Permanent Global Note of the same Series or (ii) for
definitive Notes of the same Series with, where applicable, receipts, interest coupons and talons
attached (as indicated in the form of Final Terms), in each case against certification of beneficial
ownership as described above unless such certification has already been given. The holder of a
Temporary Global Note will not be entitled to collect any payment of interest, principal or other
amount due on or after the Exchange Date unless, upon due certification, exchange of the Temporary
Global Note for an interest in a Permanent Global Note or for definitive Notes is improperly withheld
or refused.

Payments of principal, interest (if any) or any other amounts on a Permanent Global Note will be
made through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (against presentation or surrender (as the
case may be) of the Permanent Global Note if the Permanent Global Note is not intended to be issued
in NGN form) without any requirement for certification.
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The form of Final Terms will specify that a Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable (free of
charge), in whole but not in part, for definitive Notes with, where applicable, receipts, interest
coupons and talons attached upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event. For these purposes,
Exchange Event means that (i) an Event of Default (as defined in Condition 8 (Events of Default and
Enforcement) of the Terms and Conditions for the English Law Notes and Condition 8 (Events of
Default and Enforcement) of the Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes) has occurred and is
continuing, (ii) the Issuer has been notified that both Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg have
been closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory
or otherwise) or have announced an intention permanently to cease business or have in fact done so
and no successor clearing system satisfactory to the Trustee, in the case of English Law Notes, is
available or (iii) the Issuer has or will become subject to adverse tax consequences which would not
be suffered were the Notes represented by the Permanent Global Note in definitive form and a
certificate to such effect signed by two Directors of the Issuer is given to the Trustee. The Issuer will
promptly give notice to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices) of the Terms and
Conditions for the English Law Notes and Condition 12 (Notices) of the Terms and Conditions for the
Italian Law Notes if an Exchange Event occurs. In the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event,
Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in
such Permanent Global Note) or the Trustee, in the case of English Law Notes, may give notice to the
Principal Paying Agent requesting exchange and, in the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event
as described in (iii) above, the Issuer may also give notice to the Principal Paying Agent requesting
exchange. Any such exchange shall occur not later than 45 days after the date of receipt of the first
relevant notice by the Principal Paying Agent.

The following legend will appear on all Notes (other than Temporary Global Notes), receipts and
interest coupons relating to such Notes where TEFRA D is specified in the form of Final Terms:

"ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO
LIMITATIONS UNDER THE UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE
LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE
CODE."

The sections referred to provide that United States holders, with certain exceptions, will not be
entitled to deduct any loss on Notes, receipts or interest coupons and will not be entitled to capital
gains treatment in respect of any gain on any sale, disposition, redemption or payment of principal in

respect of Notes, receipts or interest coupons.

Notes which are represented by a Global Note will only be transferable in accordance with the rules
and procedures for the time being of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be.

General

Pursuant to the Agency Agreement for the English Law Notes (as defined under "
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR THE ENGLISH LAW NOTES ") and pursuant to the Agency
Agreement for the Italian Law Notes (as defined under "Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law
Notes"), the Principal Paying Agent shall arrange that, where a further Tranche of Notes is issued
which is intended to form a single Series with an existing Tranche of Notes at a point after the Issue
Date of the further Tranche, the Notes of such further Tranche shall be assigned a common code and
ISIN which are different from the common code and ISIN assigned to Notes of any other Tranche of
the same Series until such time as the Tranches are consolidated and form a single Series, which shall
not be prior to the expiry of the distribution compliance period (as defined in Regulation S under the
Securities Act) applicable to the Notes of such Tranche.

Any reference herein to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg shall, whenever the context so
permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing system specified in
the form of Final Terms.

No Noteholder, Receiptholder or Couponholder shall be entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer
unless the Trustee, in the case of English Law Notes, having become bound so to proceed, fails so to
do within a reasonable period and the failure shall be continuing.
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FORM OF FINAL TERMS

NOTES WITH A DENOMINATION OF €100,000 (OR ITS EQUIVALENT IN ANY OTHER
CURRENCY) OR MORE, OTHER THAN EXEMPT NOTES

Set out below is the form of Final Terms which will be completed for each Tranche of Notes issued
under the Programme which have a denomination of €100,000 (or its equivalent in any other
currency) or more.

[PRIIPs Regulation / PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS - The Notes
are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or
otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area (EEA). For these
purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point
(11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council on
markets in financial instruments (as amended, MiFID II); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of
Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the Insurance Distribution Directive), where that customer would not qualify
as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified
investor as defined in the Prospectus Regulation. Consequently no key information document
required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended or superseded, the PRIIPs Regulation) for
offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has
been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any
retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

PRIIPs Regulation / PROHIBITION OF SALES UK RETAIL INVESTORS - The Notes are not
intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or
otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom (UK). For these purposes, a
retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of
Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European
Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (EUWA); (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended (the FSMA) and any rules or regulations made
under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a
professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms
part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018; or (iii) not a qualified
investor as defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by
virtue of the EUWA. Consequently no key information document required by the PRIIPs Regulation
as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the UK PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or
selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared
and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in
the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.]®

[MIFID II product governance / Professional investors and ECPs only target market — Solely for
the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in
respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible
counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in [Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended,
MIFID II)][MiFID II]; and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and
professional clients are appropriate. [Consider any negative target market]. Any person subsequently
offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a distributor) should take into consideration the
manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible
for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or

3 Legend to be included on front of the Final Terms if the Tranche of Notes potentially constitute ‘packaged” products and no key
information document will be prepared or the issuer wishes to prohibit offers to EEA and UK retail investors for any other reason, in
which case the selling restriction should be specified to be “Applicable’.
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refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution
channels. |

[UK MIFIR product governance / Professional investors and ECPs only target market — Solely
for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment
in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is only
eligible counterparties, as defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook (COBS),
and professional clients, as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law
by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (UK MiFIR); and (ii) all channels for
distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. [Consider
any negative target market]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a
distributor) should take into consideration the manufacturer[’s/s’] target market assessment;
however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance
Sourcebook (the UK MiIFIR Product Governance Rules) is responsible for undertaking its own
target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the
manufacturer|’s/s’] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels. |

[NOTIFICATION UNDER SECTION 309B(1)(C) OF THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES
ACT (CHAPTER 289) OF SINGAPORE, AS MODIFIED OR AMENDED FROM TIME TO
TIME (the SFA) - [Insert notice if classification of the Notes is not “prescribed capital markets
products”, pursuant to Section 309B of the SFA or “Excluded Investment Products” (as defined in
MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16:
Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products)].]*

[Date]
BANCA POPOLARE DI SONDRIO S.C.p.A.
Legal entity identifier (LEI): J48C8PCSJVUBRSKCW529

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes]
under the €5,000,000,000
Euro Medium Term Note Programme

PART A - CONTRACTUAL TERMS

[Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the [Terms and
Conditions for the English Law Notes] [Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes] (the
Conditions) set forth in the Base Prospectus dated 8 October 2021 [and in any supplement to it dated
[date] [and [date]] which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus
Regulation (the Base Prospectus). This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described
herein for the purposes of the Prospectus Regulation and must be read in conjunction with the Base
Prospectus and any supplement thereto in order to obtain all the relevant information. The Base
Prospectus and any supplement thereto have been published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange (www.bourse.lu).]

(The following alternative language applies if the first tranche of an issue which is being increased
was issued under a Base Prospectus with an earlier date.)

[Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the [Terms and
Conditions for the English Law Notes] [Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law Notes] (the
“Conditions”) set forth in the prospectus dated 31 July 2020, as supplemented on 10 March 2021 and

4 Relevant Manager(s)/Dealer(s) to consider whether it / they have received the necessary product classification from the Issuer
prior to the launch of the offer, pursuant to Section 309B of the SFA.
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on 1 July 2021, which are incorporated by reference in the prospectus dated 8 October 2021. This
document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of the Prospectus
Regulation and must be read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus dated 8 October 2021 and in any
supplement to the Base Prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Regulation (the Base
Prospectus). The Base Prospectus has been published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange (www.bourse.lu).]

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable". Note that the numbering
should remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable” is indicated for individual paragraphs or
subparagraphs (in which case the sub-paragraphs of the paragraphs which are not applicable can be
deleted). Italics denote directions for completing the Final Terms.]

[If the Notes have a maturity of less than one year from the date of their issue, the minimum
denomination may need to be £100,000 or its equivalent in any other currency.]

1 (a) Series Number: [ ]
(b) Tranche Number: [ ]
(c) Date on which the Notes will be The Notes will be consolidated and form a single
consolidated and form a single Series with [ Provide issue amount/ISIN/maturity
Series: date/issue date of earlier Tranches] on [the Issue
Date/the date that is 40 days after the Issue
Date/exchange of the Temporary Global Note for
interests in the Permanent Global Note, as
referred to in paragraph [ ]| below, which is
expected to occur on or about [date]][Not
Applicable]
2. Specified Currency or Currencies: [ ]
3. Aggregate Nominal Amount:
(a) Series: [ ]
(b) Tranche: [ ]

4. Issue Price: [ 1per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount
[plus accrued interest from [insert date] (if
applicable)]

5. (a) Specified Denominations: [ ]

(N.B. Senior and Subordinated Notes must have a
minimum  denomination of €100,000 (or
equivalent). In the case of Non-Preferred Senior
Notes, Notes must have a minimum denomination
of €250,000 (or equivalent))

(Note — where multiple denominations above

[€100,000] or equivalent are being used the
following sample wording should be followed:
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(b) Calculation Amount (in relation

to calculation of interest
global form see Conditions):

(a) Issue Date:
(b) Interest Commencement Date:
Maturity Date:

Interest Basis:

in

"[€100,000] and integral multiples of [€1,000] in
excess thereof up to and including [€199,000].
No Notes in definitive form will be issued with a
denomination above [€199,000].")

(Note — where multiple denominations above
[€250,000] or equivalent are being used the
following sample wording should be followed:

"[€250,000] and integral multiples of [€1,000] in
excess thereof up to and including [€499,000].
No Notes in definitive form will be issued with a
denomination above [€499,000].")

[ ]

(If only one Specified Denomination, insert the
Specified Denomination. If more than one
Specified Denomination, insert the highest
common factor. Note: There must be a common
factor in the case of two or more Specified
Denominations.)

[ ]

[specify/Issue Date/Not Applicable]

(N.B. An Interest Commencement Date will not
be relevant for certain Notes, for example Zero
Coupon Notes.)

Specify date or for Floating Rate Notes — Interest
Payment Date falling in or nearest to [specify
month and year)

(Unless otherwise permitted by current laws,
regulations, directives and/or requirements
applicable to the issue of Notes by the Issuer,
Non-Preferred Senior Notes must have a maturity
of not less than twelve months and Subordinated
Notes must have a minimum maturity of five
years).

[[ ] per cent. Fixed Rate] [subject to interest
rate step-up as specified in subparagraph 13(g)
below][ subject to interest rate step-down as
specified in subparagraph 13(g) below]

[[ ] per cent. to be reset on [ ] [and [ ]] and every
[ ] anniversary thereafter]

[[[ ] month EURIBOR] +/- [ ] per cent.
Floating Rate] [subject to interest rate step-up as
specified in subparagraph 15(m) below][ subject
to interest rate step-down as specified in
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9. Redemption[/Payment] Basis:
10. Change of Interest Basis:

11. Put/Call Options:

12. (a) Status of the Notes:

for

(b) [Date [Board] approval

issuance of Notes obtained:

subparagraph 15(m) below]
[Zero coupon]
(see paragraph [13]/[14]/[15]/[16]below)

Subject to any purchase and cancellation or early
redemption, the Notes will be redeemed on the
Maturity Date at [ ] per cent. of their nominal
amount’

[Specify the date when any fixed to floating rate
or vice versa change occurs or cross refer to
paragraphs 13 and 15 below and identify there]
[Not Applicable]

[Issuer Call]

[Regulatory Call]

(N.B. Only relevant in the case of Subordinated
Notes)

[Issuer Call due to MREL Disqualification
Event]

(N.B. Only relevant in the case of Senior Notes or
Non-Preferred Senior Notes)

[Investor Put]

(N.B. Only relevant in the case of Senior Notes or
Non-Preferred Senior Notes)

[(see paragraph [19]/[20]/[22] below)]

[Not Applicable]

[Senior/Non-Preferred Senior/Subordinated]

[ T[and[ ], respectively]]

(N.B. Only relevant where Board (or similar)
authorisation is required for the particular
tranche of Notes)

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

13. Fixed Rate Note Provisions

(a) Rate(s) of Interest:

* Redemption shall occur at at least 100% of the par value
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[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining
subparagraphs of this paragraph)
[ ] per cent. per annum payable in arrear on

each Interest Payment Date

[For interest step-up/step-down Notes: [ 1% per
annum commencing on (and including) the
Interest Commencement Date until (but not
including) [date]

[ ]% per annum commencing on (and including)
[date] until (but not including) [date]



14.

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)
®

(2

Interest Payment Date(s):

Fixed Coupon Amount(s) for
Notes in definitive form (and in
relation to Notes in global form
see Conditions):

Broken Amount(s) for Notes in
definitive form (and in relation to
Notes in global form see
Conditions):

Day Count Fraction:

Determination Date(s):

[Interest  Rate
down:

Step-up/Step-

Reset Note Provisions:

(a)

(b)
(©)
(d)

(e)

®

(2
(h)

Initial Rate of Interest:

First Margin:

Subsequent Margin:

Interest Payment Date(s):

Fixed Coupon Amount up to (but
excluding) the First Reset Date:

Broken Amount(s):

First Reset Date:
Second Reset Date:

Subsequent Reset Date(s):

[ ]% per annum commencing on (and including)
[date] until (but not including) the Maturity Date]]

[ ]in each year up to and including the Maturity
Date

(Amend appropriately in the case of irregular
COUpONS)

[ ]per Calculation Amount

[ ] per Calculation Amount, payable on the
Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [  ]][Not
Applicable]

[30/360] [Actual/Actual (ICMA)]

[[ ]in each year][Not Applicable]
(Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is

Actual/Actual (ICMA). In such a case, insert

regular interest payment dates, ignoring issue
date or maturity date in the case of a long or
short first or last coupon)

[Applicable for further details see paragraph
13(a) above /Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[ ] per cent. per annum payable in arrear [on each
Interest Payment Date]

[+/-][ ] per cent. per annum
[[+/-][ ] per cent. per annum] [Not Applicable]

[ ][and [ ]] in each year up to and including the
Maturity Date [until and excluding [ ]]

[[ ] per Calculation Amount][Not Applicable]
[[ ] per Calculation Amount payable on the

Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [ ]][Not
Applicable]

[]

[ /[Not Applicable]

[1[and[]]



15.

W)
(k)
M
(m)

(n)

(o)

)
(@
(r)

Relevant Screen Page:
Mid-Swap Rate:
Mid-Swap Maturity

Day Count Fraction:

Reset Reference Rate
Conversion:

Original Reset Reference Rate
Payment Basis:

Determination Dates:
Business Centre(s):

Calculation Agent:

Floating Rate Note Provisions

(a)

(b)

(©)
(d)

(e)

®

Specified Period(s)/Specified
Interest Payment Dates:

Business Day Convention:

Additional Business Centre(s):

Manner in which the Rate of

Interest and Interest Amount is to
be determined:

Party responsible for calculating
the Rate of Interest and Interest

Amount (if not the Agent):

Screen Rate Determination:
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[®]/[Not Applicable]
[Single Mid-Swap Rate/Mean Mid-Swap Rate]

[]

[Actual/Actual / Actual/Actual (ISDA)]
[Actual/365 (Fixed)]

[Actual/365 (Sterling)]

[Actual/360]

[30/360/360/360/Bond Basis]
[30E/360/Eurobond Basis]

[30E/360 (ISDA)]

[Actual/Actual ICMA]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[Annual/Semi-annual/Quarterly/Monthly/Not
Applicable]

[ ]1in each year

[]

[]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining
subparagraphs of this paragraph)

[ 11, subject to adjustment in accordance with
the Business Day Convention set out in (b)
below/, not subject to adjustment, as the Business
Day Convention in (b) below is specified to be
Not Applicable]

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business
Day Convention/Modified Following Business
Day Convention/ Preceding Business Day
Convention][Not Applicable]

[ ]
[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA

Determination]

[ ] (the Calculation Agent)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]



(2

(h)

° Reference Rate:

. Interest  Determination
Date(s):

. Relevant Screen Page:

ISDA Determination:

. ISDA Definitions:

. Floating Rate Option:

. Designated Maturity:

° Reset Date:

Linear Interpolation:

Margin(s):

(If not applicable delete the remaining items of
this subparagraph)

+] month [EURIBOR]

[*]

(Second day on which the TARGET2 System is
open prior to the start of each Interest Period)

[]

(If not Reuters EURIBORO(I ensure it is a page
which shows a composite rate or amend the
fallback provisions appropriately)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining items of
this subparagraph)

[2006  ISDA  Definitions]/[2021 ISDA
Definitions]

(The 2021 ISDA Definitions should not be
selected before their effective date of 4 October
2021)

[ ]

(Ensure this is a Floating Rate Option included
in the Floating Rate Matrix (as defined in the
2021 ISDA Definitions))

[ V/[Not Applicable]

(A Designated Maturity period is not relevant
where the relevant Floating Rate Option is a
risk-free rate)

[ ]
(In the case of a EURIBOR based option, the first

day of the interest period)

[Not Applicable/Applicable - the Rate of interest
for the [long/short] [first/last] Interest Period
shall be calculated using Linear Interpolation
(specify for each short or long interest period)]

[+/-]1[ ] per cent. per annum

[For interest step-up/step-down Notes: [ % per
annum commencing on (and including) the
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16.

17.

) Minimum Rate of Interest:
(k) Maximum Rate of Interest:

Q) Day Count Fraction:

(m) [Interest Rate

down:

Step-up/Step-
Zero Coupon Note Provisions

(a) Accrual Yield:

(b) Reference Price:

(c) Day Count Fraction in relation to

Early Redemption Amounts:

Change of Interest Basis Provisions:

- Switch Option:

Interest Commencement Date until (but not
including) [date]

[ 1% per annum commencing on (and including)
[date] until (but not including) [date]

[ 1% per annum commencing on (and including)
[date] until (but not including) the Maturity Date]

[ ] per cent. per annum
[ ] per cent. per annum

[Actual/Actual (ISDA)][Actual/Actual]
Actual/365 (Fixed)

Actual/365 (Sterling)

Actual/360

[30/360][360/360][Bond Basis]
[30E/360][Eurobond Basis]

30E/360 (ISDA)

[Applicable for further details see paragraph 15
(i) above /Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the
subparagraphs of this paragraph)

remaining

[ ]per cent. per annum

[ ]

[30/360]
[Actual/360]
[Actual/365]

[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph)

(To be completed in addition to paragraphs 13
and 15 (as appropriate) if any fixed to floating or
fixed reset rate change occurs)

[Applicable — [specify details of the change(s) in
Interest Basis and the relevant Interest Periods to
which the change(s) in Interest Basis
applies]/[Not Applicable]

(The Issuer must give notice of the exercise of the
Switch Option to Noteholders in accordance with
Condition 12 (Notices) of the Terms and
Conditions of the English Law Notes and
Condition 12 (Notices) of the Terms and
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PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

18.

19.

Notice

Switch Option Expiry Date:

Switch Option Effective Date:

periods for Condition 5.2

(Redemption for tax reasons) of the
Terms and Conditions for the English

Law

Notes and Condition 5.2

(Redemption for tax reasons) of the

Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law

Notes:

Issuer Call:

(a)
(b)

(©)

(d)
(e)
®

(2

Optional Redemption Date(s):

Optional Redemption Amount:

Reference Bond:

Quotation Time:
Redemption Margin:
If redeemable in part:

- Minimum Redemption
Amount:

- Maximum Redemption
Amount:

Notice periods:

Conditions of the Italian Law Notes on or prior
to the relevant Switch Option Expiry Date)

[ ]
[ ]

Minimum period: [30] days
Maximum period: [60] days

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining
subparagraphs of this paragraph)

[ ]

[ ] per Calculation Amount][Make-whole
Amount]

[Set out appropriate variable details in this pro
forma, for example reference obligation]

[Insert applicable Reference Bond/FA Selected
Bond]

[11.00 a.m. [London/specify other] time]

[[ ] per cent./Not Applicable]

Minimum period: [15] days

Maximum period: [30] days

(N.B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is
advised to consider the practicalities of
distribution of information through
intermediaries, for example, clearing systems
(Which require a minimum of 5 clearing system
business days' notice for a call) and custodians,
as well as any other notice requirements which
may apply, for example, as between the Issuer
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20.

21.

22.

Regulatory Call:
(a) Early = Redemption = Amount
payable on redemption for

Issuer

regulatory reasons (in the case of
Subordinated Notes only and
subject to the prior approval of
the relevant Competent
Authority, as applicable, and in
accordance with applicable laws
and  regulations, including
Articles 77(b) and 78 of the
CRR) as contemplated by
Condition 5.3 (Redemption for
regulatory reasons (Regulatory
Call)) of the Terms and
Conditions for the English Law
Notes and Condition 5.3
(Redemption  for  regulatory
reasons (Regulatory Call)) of the
Terms and Conditions for the
Italian Law Notes and/or the
method of calculating the same
(if required or if different from
that set out in Condition 5.7
(Early Redemption Amounts) of
the Terms and Conditions of the
English Law  Notes and
Condition 5.7 (Early Redemption
Amounts) of the Terms and
Conditions for the Italian Law
Notes:

Call due to MREL

Disqualification Event:

(a)

Early Redemption Amount:

Investor Put:

and the Agent or Trustee.)
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
paragraphs of this paragraph.)

(N.B. Only relevant in the case of Subordinated
Notes)

[[ ] per Calculation Amount/as set out in
Condition 5.7 (Early Redemption Amounts) of the
Terms and Conditions for the English Law Notes
and Condition 5.7 (Early Redemption Amounts)
of the Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law
Notes]

[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]

(Only relevant in the case of Senior Notes or
Non-Preferred Senior Notes)

1l ] per Calculation Amount/as set out in
Condition 5.7 (Early Redemption Amounts) of the
Terms and Conditions for the English Law Notes
and Condition 5.7 (Early Redemption Amounts)
of the Terms and Conditions for the Italian Law
Notes

[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]
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(a) Optional Redemption Date(s):
(b) Optional Redemption Amount:
(c) Notice periods:

23. Final Redemption Amount:

24. Early Redemption Amount payable on
redemption for taxation reasons or on

event of default:

(If not applicable, delete the
subparagraphs of this paragraph)

remaining

[ ]

[ ]per Calculation Amount

(NB: If the Optional Redemption Amount is other
than a specified amount per Calculation Amount,
the Notes will need to be Exempt Notes)

Minimum period: [15] days

Maximum period: [30] days

(N.B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is
advised to consider the practicalities of
distribution of information through
intermediaries, for example, clearing systems
(which require a minimum of 15 clearing system
business days' notice for a put) and custodians,
as well as any other notice requirements which
may apply, for example, as between the Issuer
and the Agent or Trustee.)

[

[ ]per Calculation Amount

(N.B. If the Final Redemption Amount is 100 per
cent. of the nominal value (i.e. par), the Early
Redemption Amount is likely to be par (but
consider). If, however, the Final Redemption
Amount is other than 100 per cent. of the nominal
value, consideration should be given as to what
the Early Redemption Amount should be.)

] per Calculation Amount

[See also paragraph 20 (Regulatory Call:)]
(Delete this cross-reference unless the Notes are
Subordinated Notes and the Regulatory Call is
applicable)

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

25. Form of Notes:

(a)

[Form:]
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[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a
Permanent Global Note